
CITY OF NORTH POLE 
Regular Meeting 
January 4, 2021 

North Pole Council Chambers 
125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska 

www.northpolealaska.com 

Monday, January 4, 2021 
Committee of the Whole: 6:30 PM 

Regular City Council Meeting: 7:00 PM 

MAYOR CITY CLERK 
Michael Welch 
488-8584

Aaron M. Rhoades 
488-8583

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
Thomas McGhee – Mayor Pro Tem 455-0010
Aino Welch – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 488-5834
Perry Walley – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 347-0135
DeJohn Cromer 347-2808
David Skipps 750-5106
Santa Claus  388-3836

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag

3. Invocation

4. Approval of the Agenda

5. Approval of the Minutes
a. December 14, 2020

6. Communications from the Mayor
a. Alaska Syngas Project Brent Sheets – North Pole Brent Sheets
b. Marathon, GVEA

7. Council Member Questions of the Mayor

8. Communications from Department Heads, Borough Representative and the City Clerk

9. Ongoing Projects Report
a. CARES Act Update
b. Discuss North Pole Police Department Construction Project
c. Total Compensation Project – David Evertson, Municipal Solutions000001

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


 
 

10. Citizens Comments (Limited to five (5) minutes per Citizen) 

11. Old Business: 
a. Reconsideration of Amendment for A Resolution establishing Love Inc. as the contracted 

provider for distribution of CARES Act Funds and establish the parameters for the Business 
Interruption Grant for the Business and Non-Profit entities. Also increase the Family and 
Individual Grant from $10,000 to a maximum of $15,000 dollars and move the consideration 
period from September 30, 2020 to November 30, 2020.  
 

12. New Business: 
a. Request to approve JAG Grant for North Pole Police Department. 
b. Request to approve committees for 2021. 

a. Code Violations 
b. Ethics 
c. Festivals 
d. Total Compensation Project  
e. Bed Tax  

 
13. Executive Session – Motion to go into  

a. Motion to go into Executive Session to discuss information that may disparage the reputation 
of an employee. 
 

14. Council Comments 
 

15. Adjournment 
 
Detailed information and copies of agenda documents may be obtained at the Office of the City Clerk, 
125 Snowman Lane or on the City website www.northpolealaska.com .  Notice of Council Action is 
available at City Hall and on the City website following the meeting. 
 

How to Offer Public Testimony at Council Meetings 
 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and local/state regulations requiring residents to stay at home, 
practice social distancing, and limit gatherings, the City of North Pole has created a process for citizens 
to stay connected with the Council regarding agenda items. 
 
Written testimony is encouraged.  You may submit your comments by calling the Clerk’s Office at 
488-8583 or by sending an email to arhoades@northpolealaska.org prior to 1:00 p.m. the day of the 
meeting.  Please indicate which agenda item you are providing written testimony for.  Examples: 
Ordinance or Resolution number, agenda item#, or description of subject. 
 
To sign-up for telephonic testimony call the Clerk’s Office at 488-8583 or 
email arhoades@northpolealaska.org prior to 1:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Please indicate that you 
wished to be called, for what item you will provide testimony on, and what number you can be reached 
at. 
Council Meetings are aired live via audio streaming from the City’s website 
at https://www.northpolealaska.com/citycouncil/page/council-meeting-audio-stream. 
 
Inquiries concerning ADA compliance or accommodations should be directed to the City Clerk. 

000002

http://www.northpolealaska.com/
mailto:arhoades@northpolealaska.org
mailto:arhoades@northpolealaska.org
https://www.northpolealaska.com/citycouncil/page/council-meeting-audio-stream


 

1 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

NORTH POLE CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES, December 14, 2020 

NORTH POLE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
125 SNOWMAN LANE, NORTH POLE, ALASKA 

 
 
Mayor Welch called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, December 14, 2020 to order at 
7:00 p.m. with the following Council Members in attendance: 
 
Council Members Present: Mayor Welch – Zooming In 

Santa Claus - Zooming In 
    Thomas McGhee - Zooming In 
    David Skipps - Zooming In 

Aino Welch - Zooming In 
DeJohn Cromer - Zooming In 
Perry Walley – Zooming In 

Absent:      
 
Excused:   
       
Also Present:   Steve Dutra, Police Chief – Zooming In 
    Chad Heineken, Fire Chief – Zooming In 

William Butler, Director of City Services– Zooming In 
    Tricia Fogarty, Chief Financial Officer – Zooming In 

Aaron M. Rhoades, City Clerk/HR Manager – Zooming In 
 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG 
Clerk Rhoades asked everyone to join him in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
INVOCATION 
The Invocation was given by Mrs. Welch. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Mr. McGhee moved to approve the agenda of December 14, 2020. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Walley 
 
Discussion 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to consent the following items:  
 

000003



 

2 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

Old Business: 
• Ordinance 20 - 26 An Ordinance of the City Of North Pole, Alaska Establishing the 

2021 Operating Budget and Levying the Mill Rate. 
• Ordinance 20 – 27 An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, Alaska to Amend Title 13, 

Public Services Utility Rates for 2021. 
• Ordinance 20 – 28 An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, Alaska  to Amend the 2020 

Water Utility Operating Budget 
• Ordinance 20 – 29 An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, Alaska  to Amend the 2020 

General Fund Operating Budget 
• Ordinance 20 – 30 Amending Fire Department Shift Personnel Overtime Payment Time 

Period. 
 

New Business: 
c.   Request To Write Off Tupperstuff Sales Tax Account In the Amount of $3,639.49. 

 
Removed 

 b. Resolution to consider hazardous duty pay for first responders Fire Department and   
      Police Department. 

 
 
Seconded by Mrs. Welch 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO CONSENT OLD BUSINESS 
ITEMS A, B, C, D, E AND NEW BUSINESS ITEMS C and REMOVE ITEM B: 

 
YES: 7 – Mr. McGhee, Mr. Skipps, Mr. Claus, Mrs. Welch, Mr. Cromer, Mr. Walley, Mayor 
Welch 
NO: 0   
ABSTAIN:  
Mayor Welch declared the MOTION CARRIED 
 
On the Agenda as amended. 
 
Discussion 
None  
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA AS 
AMMENDED: 

 
YES: 7 – Mr. McGhee, Mr. Skipps, Mr. Claus, Mrs. Welch, Mr. Cromer, Mr. Walley, Mayor 
Welch 
NO: 0   
ABSTAIN:  
Mayor Welch declared the MOTION CARRIED 

000004



 

3 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Mr. McGhee moved to approve the Minutes of November 16, 2020 and December 7, 2020. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Walley 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES 
FROM NOVEMBER 16, 2020 AND DECEMBER 7, 2020 CITY COUNCIL MEETING: 

 
YES: 7 – Mr. McGhee, Mr. Skipps, Mr. Claus, Mrs. Welch, Mr. Cromer, Mr. Walley, Mayor 
Welch 
NO: 0   
ABSTAIN:  
Mayor Welch declared the MOTION CARRIED 
 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR  

• Student of the Month 
a. Zada Lipari - Senior 
b. Shea Gibby – Sophomore 
c. Wilson Wade – Sophomore 
d. Madison Miller - Freshman 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR  

• None 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 
REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 
 
 
Fire Department, Chief Heineken  

• Things are continuing to run smoothly since Chief Coons retirement, this is largely due to 
the efforts Chief Coon made prior to leaving.   

• As of November 30th, the fire department have gone on 1247 emergency calls this year. 
•  COVID vaccines will arrive in Alaska very soon. Our first responders are within the 

priority group for receiving vaccination.   
• We have added two Lucas Devices to both ambulances. These devices provide 

continuous compression to a patient being treated for cardiac arrest.  
• The open Firefighter position has been offered to Jenni Villarreal. FF Villarreal has been 

one of our part time staff and will be a welcome addition as she transitions to full time 

000005



 

4 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

status. This brings the fire department back to full staffing with exception of the open 
Fire Chief position.  

Training: 

• Firefighter 1 completed its State testing on November 21st. All personnel passed the 
hands-on portion of the testing and are awaiting written test results.  
 

Maintenance Report: 

• Engine 22 developed a sever leak in its water tank and has been out of service for several 
weeks. The tank has now been repaired by Captain Hamlin and the apparatus will be back 
in service soon. This apparatus is 27 years old and is quickly approaching the end of its 
serviceable life. NFPA recommends second line apparatus be retired after 30 years.  

Police Department, Chief Dutra 
• Vehicle is ready to be shipped from CA.  One last item to be installed. 
• Stats – Questions comments? 
• Received JAG funding in the amount of $96,848.  Coming Jan 4, 20201 council 
• North Pole Reserve Association donating to $500 to FMH Toy Drive / Filipe Agency 
• Shop with a Cop I will be participating 
• Range meeting – public outreach – 10 sites 
• Annual General Membership meeting I was voted in as President again, thankful 

humbled 
• I attended the Annual APSC meeting – 

 
 
Finance, Tricia Fogarty 

• Sales tax update for October sales tax received in November 2019 $261,918.69 2020 
$343,528.59.  Year to date total $3,272,683.00 Budgeted 4,114,136.00.  We have 2 
month left outstanding $841,453 short. 

• Last Thursday our department heads and select staff had a demo preview with Tyler 
Technologies.  We had positive feedback from the staff that attended the demo.   

• I have processed 4 administrative budget transfers to date, I attached them to this update 
if anyone has any questions please give me a call or send me an email. 

o Mayor asked for a Demo for Tyler Technologies for next December 14, 2020. 
 
Borough Representative 

• 2020-37:  claims for refunds of Taxes    Passed 
o Two ways to claim taxes paid to Borough 1 if overpayment was a clerical error 

(payer or his agent) in error pays too much. Taxpayer error is a typographical, 
computational, or other similar error but does not include an intentional 
overpayment by a taxpayer or the taxpayer’s agent.  

000006



 

5 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

o 2 If tax paid under protest; apparently should have been less A taxpayer pays 
taxes under protest only if the taxpayer has: 1. Requested the assessor make a 
correction of the taxpayer's assessment notice as provided by law: and Timely 
filed any appeal or suit as provided by law: and Timely paid the full amount of the 
taxes as shown on the applicable tax statement and not more than 30 days after 
payment filed with the mayor a written protest 

 
• 2020—20-1g Passed 

; APPROPRIATING $3,769,214 IN FEDERAL GRANT FUNDING TO THE TRANSIT 
ENTERPRISE PROJECTS FUND TO PROVIDE CARES ACT SECTION 5307 
OPERATING ASSISTANCE 
 

• 2020-20-1H Passed 
APPROPRIATING $28,405.40 IN FEDERAL GRANT FUNDING TO THE SPECIAL 
REVENUE FUND TO BE USED TO PREVENT, PREPARE FOR, AND RESPOND 
TO CORONAVIRUS CONCERNS FOR HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS 
 

• 2020-20-1L  Passed 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FY 2020-21 BUDGET BY REALLOCATING 
AN ESTIMATED $525,000 OF THE CARES ACT FUNDS WITHIN THE SPECIAL 
REVENUE FUND FROM THE BOROUGH RESPONSE FUNDING TO THE 
EXPLORE FAIRBANKS RESPONSE FUNDING 

• It was noted that the BIG applicants would come first and only monies left over would be 
given to the EF. With current applications in the pipeline, Mr. Williams speculated that it 
would not be a lot of money left. 

Building Department, Bill Butler 
Building Department 

• Permits issued since last Council meeting: None. 
 

Public Works 

• Bus shelter project to go to bid and construction in 2021 for three new shelters in North 
Pole; one in front of Wells Fargo; one at NPHS; one by the Library. 

• Snowman Lane and NPHS Boulevard pedestrian paths should go to bid and construction 
in 2021. 

 

Utility Department 

000007



 

6 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

• Last Thursday I had a meeting with MPC Alaska Terminal Company (Marathon) to 
discuss their pilot test to reduce discharge of PFAS compounds to wastewater discharge 
to City sewer system. 
 Using Zeolite and activated carbon filters to remove PFAS. 
 Had positive results reducing PFAS compounds to well below City’s discharge limit. 
 They asked about extending the compliance date of February 1, 2021 that is now in 

City Code. The decision lies with Council, but I told them my recommendation to 
Council would be to issue a waiver versus changing the deadline. 

 

Moose Creek Water System Expansion Project. 

• Potentially will achieve substantial completion of the transmission main, pump house, 
storage tank and northern loop before end of 2020. 
• Substantial completion is when the facility is operational with only minor outstanding 

items remaining to be completed. 
• Will be installing “shut-off” water meters for all residential properties in Moose Creek. 
• Only approximately 120 property owners in Moose Creek have not returned 

environmental covenants.  
 Began a second effort to recruit new water customers. 
 Released a second mailing on December 10 to all non-respondents. 
 Already received a request for first consultation meeting with a property owner as a 

result of the mailing. 
Offer consultation meetings at City Hall and at the Moose Creek Fire House.  

 

City Clerk  
• City Telephone problem with Verizon and Alasconnect – Problem has been solved 
• Flexible Spending Accounts working with Broker Plan Summary being used is from 

2015. 
o Mr. McGhee had question? 

 4.12 Why we don’t list the Mill Levy in that ordinance? 
 When you have time find out how we update the archives 

 
ONGOING PROJECTS 

• CARES Act Update. 
o The City has Elected to contract with Love Inc. to administer both the BIG grant 

and FIG. The participation has been double what the FNSB has in 7 days which is 
10 Businesses and Non-Profits. There is a need and going with Love Inc. appears 
to be the right choice based on the early results. 

o Mr. Claus discussed the City of Skagway CARES Act Funds going to each of the 
citizens. 

000008



 

7 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

o Mr. McGhee are we going to be able to spend the first batch of money received 
from the State of Alaska? 

 
CITIZEN’S COMMENTS – (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 
None 
 
MOTION TO INTRODUCE RESOLUTION 20-10 A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING 
LOVE INC. AS THE CONTRACTED PROVIDER FOR DISTRIBUTION OF CARES 
ACT FUNDS AND ESTABLISH THE PARAMETERS FOR THE BUSINESS 
INTERRUPTION GRANT FOR THE BUSINESS AND NON-PROFIT ENTITIES. ALSO 
INCREASE THE FAMILY AND INDIVIDUAL GRANT FROM $10,000 TO A 
MAXIMUM OF $15,000 DOLLARS AND MOVE THE CONSIDERATION PERIOD 
FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 TO NOVEMBER 30, 2020  
 
Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce Resolution 20 – 10 , A Resolution establishing Love Inc. as 
the contracted provider for distribution of CARES Act Funds and establish the parameters 
for the Business Interruption Grant for the Business and Non-Profit entities. Also increase 
the Family and Individual Grant from $10,000 to a maximum of $15,000 dollars and move 
the consideration period from September 30, 2020 to November 30, 2020.  
  
Seconded by Mrs. Welch 
 
Mr. McGhee move to Amend Resolution 20 – 10  
 
Seconded by Mr. Walley 
 
Add at line 29:  

WHEREAS, The City of North Pole desires to distribute the all remaining CARES Act 
funds to its Citizen’s via a stimulus check. Once all encumbered funds are determined the 
balance of the CARES Act funds will be distributed to each eligible citizen of North Pole 
equally. 

 
Discussion 
A lengthy discussion took place. (See Audio for Full Transcript.) 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO AMEND RESOLUTION 20 – 
10: 

 
YES: 5 – Mr. McGhee, Mr. Skipps, Mr. Claus, Mr. Walley Mayor Welch 
NO: 2 – Mrs. Welch, Mr. Cromer  
ABSTAIN:  
Mayor Welch declared the MOTION CARRIED 

000009



 

8 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 
MOTION TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 20-10 A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING 
LOVE INC. AS THE CONTRACTED PROVIDER FOR DISTRIBUTION OF CARES 
ACT FUNDS AND ESTABLISH THE PARAMETERS FOR THE BUSINESS 
INTERRUPTION GRANT FOR THE BUSINESS AND NON-PROFIT ENTITIES. ALSO 
INCREASE THE FAMILY AND INDIVIDUAL GRANT FROM $10,000 TO A 
MAXIMUM OF $15,000 DOLLARS AND MOVE THE CONSIDERATION PERIOD 
FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 TO NOVEMBER 30, 2020 
 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to Approve Resolution 20 – 10 as Amended, A Resolution establishing 
Love Inc. as the contracted provider for distribution of CARES Act Funds and establish 
the parameters for the Business Interruption Grant for the Business and Non-Profit 
entities. Also increase the Family and Individual Grant from $10,000 to a maximum of 
$15,000 dollars and move the consideration period from September 30, 2020 to November 
30, 2020.  
 
Seconded by Mr. Walley 
 
A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPOVE RESOLITION 20 – 10 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING LOVE INC. AS THE CONTRACTED PROVIDER FOR 
DISTRIBUTION OF CARES ACT FUNDS AND ESTABLISH THE PARAMETERS FOR 
THE BUSINESS INTERRUPTION GRANT FOR THE BUSINESS AND NON-PROFIT 
ENTITIES. ALSO INCREASE THE FAMILY AND INDIVIDUAL GRANT FROM $10,000 
TO A MAXIMUM OF $15,000 DOLLARS AND MOVE THE CONSIDERATION PERIOD 
FROM SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 TO NOVEMBER 30, 2020:  
 
YES: 7 – Mr. McGhee, Mr. Skipps, Mr. Claus, Mrs. Welch, Mr. Cromer, Mr. Walley Mayor 
Welch 
NO: 0   
ABSTAIN:  
Mayor Welch declared the MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:56 p.m. 
 
Seconded by Mrs. Welch 
 
The regular meeting of Monday, December 14, 2020 adjourned at 9:57p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 

000010



 

9 
City of North Pole NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT December 14, 2020 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

 
 
              

Michael Welch, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 
       
Aaron M. Rhoades, City Clerk 

000011



MAKING COAL RELEVANT FOR 
SMALL SCALE APPLICATIONS

Modular Gasification for
Syngas/Engine Combine Heat and Power Applications in 

Challenging Environments
(Funding by DOE/NETL  Contract DE-FE0031446)

UAF is an AA/EO employer and educational institution and prohibits illegal 
discrimination against any individual: www.alaska.edu/nondiscrimination/.

000012



PROJECT PARTNERS

SLR & PDC:
Permitting and Environmental Assessments

HMI:
Intellectual Property
Decades Experience

WorleyParsons:
Detailed Engineering

Cost Estimating Service

Others: Chena Power, Aurora Energy, UAF, 
Sotacarbo, HMI,GVEA, Innio, Western 

Energy Services

000013



PROJECT DESCRIPTION
AND OBJECTIVE

Demonstrate small scale coal 
gasification to fuel 
reciprocating engine 
generators

• Cost effective coal generating 
capacity for small applications

• Provides load following 
services

• Ideal for islanding systems
• Local jobs

000014



ALIGNMENT WITH DOE GOALS

 Small—50-350 MW
 This project: 18 MWe
 First step toward 

“modularizing”

 Near Zero Emissions
 Built in a “Serious non-

Attainment area for PM2.5”

 Minimize water usage
 Water cleaned up for 

greenhouse use

 Capable of natural gas co-
firing
 Engines are easily convertible 

to firing natural gas or 
propane

 Capable of high ramp rates
 Designed for wind regulation

Not specifically part of DOE’s 
stated goals, but noteworthy:
 Pyrolysis tars/oils can be used 

in diesel engines
 Deigned to co-fire biomass

000015



UAF’S MODIFIED DESIGN

000016



UAF’S MODIFIED DESIGN

GASIFIER
GAS 

COOLING
CAUSTIC 

SCRUBBER
RECIP on 
SYNGAS

HRSG 
and SCR

COAL

ASH
TARS & 
OILS

ULSD

DEG on 
FUEL

HRSG 
and SCR

000017



THE EQUIPMENT

000018



FOUND A HOME?

000019



WHY COAL GASIFICATION?
COSTS FOR REGULATING 10 MWe OF WIND POWER

We will have updated 
numbers by Dec 31

Syngas Project
(UAF)

Diesel
(GVEA)

Natural Gas
(not an option)

Capital Cost (option 3) $85 million -- --

Fuel Costs
+ other O&M
for 18 MWe

$76.6/MWh
($10/mmbtu)

$147.2/MWh
($15/mmbtu)

$200/MWh
($20/mmbtu)

Wind Regulation Costs
(10 MWe regulating 

capacity)

$3.1 M/yr
(GVEA’s cost to 
regulate wind 
with syngas)

$6.5 M/yr
(avoidable 

costs)
--

Total Generation
(syngas and liquid 

fuels)

18 MW
10.0 MW avg

5 to 18 MW swing

240 MW
43.2 MW avg
35 to 48 MW 

swing

--

Efficiency, HHV 39% <15%
(turbines)

--

000020



CITY FUEL USAGE
(FEB 2020)

City of North Pole Heating Fuel Usage (March 2020) source:CNP & FNSB calculated calculated

Location
12 month usage 

(gallons)
Cost MMBtu

City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane                   5,026 12,565$         704

Eighth Ave. Fire Well, 110 East 8th Avenue                   1,599 3,998$           224

Highway Park Pump Station, 2696 Mockler Avenue                   1,659 4,148$           232

North Pole Fire Department Garage, 113 Lewis Street                                -   -$              0

North Pole Fire Station Annex, 243 1st Avenue                   3,204 8,010$           449

North Pole Fire Station, 110 Lewis Street                   8,922 22,305$         1,249

Police Station, 120 Snowman Lane                   2,948 7,370$           413

Public Works Building, 133 Lewis Street                   3,761 9,403$           527

Santa’s Seniors Center, 101 E. 5th Avenue                   3,735 9,338$           523

Stillmeyer Water Pump Station, 810 Refinery Loop                   1,474 3,685$           206

Utility Garage, 2389 Homestead Road                   4,732 11,830$         662

Wastewater Treatment Plant, 961 Shellinger Street                   7,412 18,530$         1,038

Water Treatment Plant, 401 Snowman Lane                 10,517 26,293$         1,472

Well House, 791 Clear Water Court                   1,273 3,183$           178

Subtotal City of North Pole (reported in gallons) 56,262           140,655$   7,877

Subtotal Westcott, NPHS, NPMS (CY 2019, reported in MMBtu)            85,257 213,143$   11,936

Total Fossil Fuel Usage          141,519  $  353,798              19,813 
Assumptions $2.50/gallon 0.14 MMBtu/gallon

000021



EFFICIENCY vs. LOAD

000022



EFFICIENCY vs. LOAD

000023



REGULATORY/PERMITTING

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed 
under CC BY-SA

The EPA designated the Fairbanks vicinity as a “serious nonattainment 
area for PM2.5”

• PM2.5 and precursors (NOx, 
SO2, volatile organic 
compounds, and ammonia) 
will be regulated under the 
nonattainment New Source 
Review

• Even with the most 
expensive emission control 
technology, this project is 
economical

000024



AK-DGGS IDENTIFIED 37 VILLAGES 
WITH COAL NEARBY

000025



RADICALLY ENGINEERED
SYSTEM
• Make it work at 10 to 

18 MWe
– Economies of Scale 

working against us
• Make it work at village 

scale <2MWe
• Integrate with diesel 

infrastructure
• Make it work with 

biomass and waste 
products 

000026



USEFUL IN LOWER-48, TOO!
• Coal plants are best suited 

for baseload operation 
because it requires a long 
period to ramp up and to 
ramp down

• Syngas/Engine 
combinations has the 
potential for making coal a 
cost competitive resource 
meeting flexible energy 
demand and fluctuating 
generation

000027



BUT MOST IMPORTANTLY
…POWER ALASKA’S INTERIOR

000028



RISK FACTORS

• Except for the HMI Gasifier, all components are 
available commercially
– HMI gasifier components are well understood and 

documented
• Emission controls could be the key factor to be 

addressed
– Fairbanks is in an EPA designated “Serious non-

attainment area for PM 2.5”
• Target price for selling to GVEA is 10¢-12¢ per kWhr;

$12/MMBtu for heat. 

000029



MEET THE TEAM

• Diane Revay Madden, NETL
• Brent J Sheets, UAF
• Rolf Maurer & Team, HMI
• Harvey Goldstein & Team, 

WorleyParsons
• Chilkoot Ward & David Fish,

Aurora Energy
• Randy Hobbs, Hobbs Industries
• Alberto Pettinau, Sotacarbo
• Isaac Bertschi & Courtney Kimball, 

SLR
• Erica Betts, PDC

000030



QUESTIONS?

Brent J Sheets
907-750-0650

bjsheets2@alaska.edu

http://pdl.uaf.edu/ 

000031



1 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA 

     CLASSIFICATION & COMPENSATION STUDY  

FINAL REPORT 

• Job Surveys / Job Description Analysis • 

• Classification System Analysis  •  Salary & Benefits Research • 

• Recommended Changes & Impacts • 
 

 
 
 

 

         

  

 
 

 
 

City of North Pole, Alaska 

125 Snowman Lane  

North Pole AK 99705 

Attn: Mayor Mike Welch 

Municipal Solutions LLC 

Local Government Services 

875 S. Estrella Parkway # 5038 

Goodyear (Phoenix), AZ, 85338 

David A. Evertsen, CEO & Principal 

 
    

000032



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 2 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared for:  

City of North Pole, Alaska 

125 Snowman Lane  

North Pole AK 99705 
Attn: Mayor Mike Welch 

 

Prepared by:  

Municipal Solutions LLC 

Local Government Services 

875 S. Estrella Parkway # 5038 

Goodyear (Phoenix), AZ, 85338 

David A. Evertsen, CEO & Principal 

devertsen@municipalsolutions.org   

888-545-7333 

  

000033

mailto:devertsen@municipalsolutions.org


City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 3 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
SECTION # & TITLE         PAGE #  
  

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY            

Study Goals and Objectives         
Executive Summary          

 
II. APPROACH & METHODOLOGY        

Management & Department Head Orientation 
Internal Job Survey & Job Analysis 
Compensable Factors 
Compensation: Regional Market Study 
Management Interviews 
Review of Job Descriptions 

 

III. FINDINGS & RECOMMENDATIONS        
   Job Descriptions   

Job Classification   
     

 Salaries     
Benefits     
Incentive Pay    

 Evaluations    
Career Planning   
Cost Comparison   
 

IV. EXHIBITS & APPENDICES          

A. Compensable Factors Classification Guidelines, Job Surveys & Assessment Results  
B. General Fund Personnel Costs vs. Comparable Cities 
C. Salary Survey Results  
D. Recommended New Job Classifications and Proposed Pay Ranges 
E. Benefits Survey Results 

1. Salary & Pay Increases 
2. Paid Vacation 
3. Sick Leave 
4. Group Insurance - General Employees 
5. Group Insurance – Police 
6. Group Insurance – Fire 
7. Paid Holidays 
8. General Employee Retirement 

F. Proposed Incentive Pay Examples 
G. Proposed 360° Performance Evaluation  

000034



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 4 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000035



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 5 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 SECTION I: STUDY OVERVIEW & EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

Study Overview  
 
Municipal Solutions, llc of Goodyear, AZ was hired to review the City of North Pole’s employee pay 
classification and compensation system (salaries and benefits) to recommend improvements in the system.  
Our work was designed to be the instrument for finding and creating an appropriate baseline for adjusting 
salaries and compensation and appropriately forecasting and establishing employee salary and 
compensation expenditures for future years. Our team was tasked with reviewing the existing compensation 
system, analyzing research provided by other local governments, and discussing findings and 
recommendations with City administration which may include: proposing a salary and compensation plan 
that is fair and equitable to employees, fiscally sound, and rewards performance, merit, and further education 
/ training in addition to length of service.   
 
Goals of this project were: 
 

✓ Review the current pay and classification plan and policies and procedures to analyze strengths 
and limitations; 

✓ Determine how well the plan meets organizational objectives and reflects current job content and 
organizational structure; 

✓ Evaluate the current pay plan structure (i.e., number of pay grades, including recommenced 
additions, deletions, and/or consolidations, appropriateness of pay range spread from salary 
minimum to maximum and percentages between salary grades) against a ‘market’ of regional 
comparable public agencies;  

✓ Recommend a strategy for potential improvements including methodologies and estimated costs 
for implementation and; 

✓ Propose a professional certification incentive program to encourage career development and 
merit-based pay. 

 
The following benchmarks / milestones have been completed:  
 
 Item              Status Complete 

Item 1: Management & Department Head Orientation; ongoing contact  100%  
Item 2: Formal Job Audit of all Classified Positions    100% 
Item 3: Classification System & Compensable Factors Analysis (internal)  100% 
Item 4: Regional Salary & Benefits Study and Comparative Analysis (external) 100% 
Item 5: Review Policy & Final Report with Management & Staff     75%* 
Item 6: Finalization of the Report & Implementation Training   50%** 
 
*To be adjusted after presentation / discussion of the draft Final Report with City Council. 
**To be completed after presentation of Final Report.  

 
This analysis is nearly complete and is provided as a draft Final Report with the recommendations that the 
City should discuss before adopting.   
 
 

000036



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 6 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Executive Summary <pending> 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

000037



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 7 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Special thanks to the following individuals for developing the necessary personal contacts and for ongoing 
assistance of:  

 

• Mike Welch, Mayor for facilitating open access to all employees, and for his patience with the length 
of the study & report completion process. 

• Aaron Rhoades, City Clerk / Human Resources Director for his diligence and success in obtaining 
necessary salary & benefits data from some local governments.  

• Tricia Fogarty,Finance Director for her patience with the data analysis and frequent financial 
questions for clarification on policy. 

• Suzanne Tungate, Senior Associate, Alan Larson, Senior Analyst and Cristian Morelli, Analyst for 
their diligence in in contacting, obtaining and analyzing salary and benefits data from public agencies. 

  

000038



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 8 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000039



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 9 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 SECTION II: APPROACH & METHODOLOGY 

Essential links in Employee Classification & Compensation Systems 
 

Every organization has functions which need to be performed. How those functions are organized and 
assigned are essential questions to any HR / Salary / Organizational Analysis. Once the key functions of an 
organization have been determined and an organizational structure created and implemented, it is necessary 
to create job descriptions detailing the work which must be performed to achieve the intended outcomes of 
an organization. Determining appropriate rates of pay for all job classifications is critical prior to hiring new 
employees.  

Illustration #1:  
The Modern Classification & Compensation System 

 

 
 

Modern Classification & Compensation Systems in local government are critically linked by three ‘systems’: 
job descriptions, classification system and market-based salary ranges. Under these modern systems, job 
descriptions contain specific (and quantifiable) language to help distinguish one position among all other 
positions and create an internal hierarchy. This hierarchy becomes the classification system. With a 
classification system in place, market-based salary range data is obtained and used to provide a basis for 
assigning salary ranges to the classifications.  Once a compensation system is complete, these systems 
must be managed effectively, or pay inequities will stem from one or more of these three areas.  

 
The 4-Phase Analysis 
 
All cities and counties have positions which have equity issues that are not simple to resolve. These issues 
cannot be addressed with a simply market study. Many issues relating to classification and compensation 
are complex and interrelated which is why our audit includes 4 elements. To avoid potential for error, assure 
accuracy, and restore any imbalance in existing classification and compensation systems, our four-phase 
analysis involves: Pre-assessment, Job Survey and Job Description Audit, Compensable Factors Analysis 
and Market Wage & Classification Analysis.   

 

Illustration #2:  
Our 4-Phase Analysis  

 

Job Descriptions
(quantifyable)

Equitable Pay 
Classifications 

(Internal) 

Market-based Salaries 
& Benefits (External)

Pre-Assessment 
& Orientation

Job Description 
Survey & Audit

Classification 
System Audit

Compensation             
System Audit

000040



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 10 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Our approach on this project follows a standard process we have used in more than 50 compensation 
and classification studies. The steps are:  

 
Analysis Phase 1: Pre-Assessment & Management Orientation 

Analysis Phase 2: Job Description Survey & Audit  

Analysis Phase 3: Classification Audit:  Compensable Factors Analysis (internal) 

Analysis Phase 4: Compensation Audit: Regional Salary & Benefits Study (external) 

 
Upon completion of the analysis phases, the following activities work towards completion of the Final 
Report and Implementation of consultant recommendations 
 

Policy Review & Preliminary review with Management & Staff 

Report Finalization & Implementation Training on Phase-in Plan 
 
Each step is explained in detail on the following pages.  

 

PHASE 1: PRE-ASSESSMENT & MANAGEMENT ORIENTATION 

 
The consultant team gathered information from City staff and reviewed a wide-range of information to better 
understand the operations of the City of North Pole, necessary to meet the goals and objectives of the study.   
 
Our project team met virtually with the Mayor and Department Managers in early October to review the 
objectives of the project and to establish an effective timeline for deliverables. Together, they reviewed the 
purpose of the study, the process to be followed, and the importance of employee their participation in the 
study.  
 
The initial meeting was followed by job surveys to each employee to clarify appropriate compensable factors 
and duties, a salary and benefits survey was sent to primary communities, and numerous face-to-face and 
telephone interviews with staff from these communities were conducted to answer questions and clarify all 
data. Active participation of Senior Management was essential to the success of the results and 
recommendations of this report.    
 
Issues and concerns that were very important to Staff brought up during this initial meeting and in follow-up 
conversations have been discussed, investigated and considered throughout our work and our analysis to 
date. Concerns of the City’s Management Team regarding this study – including regional factors and 
characteristics of unique positions - have been incorporated into this Final Report. 
 

PHASE 2: JOB DESCRIPTION SURVEY & AUDIT 

 
Consultants administered the Job Description surveys and conducted face-to-face (Zoom) interviews with all 
Department Heads as part of the job description analysis and revision, as well as administering the 
classification analysis.  The Job Surveys / Job Audits are designed to be rapid and complete with minimal 
imposition from employees’ daily routine.  
 

000041



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 11 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

As part of the Compensable Factors analysis, consultants 
reviewed more than 114 job descriptions (various versions 
and dates) to obtain a clearer understanding of levels of 
education, knowledge, experience, reporting relationships, 
working environment and level of physical and mental effort 
to be expected. This information was valuable in assuring 
accuracy of Market Study comparisons but it also extremely 
valuable for the following reasons:  
 

1. Clarifying duties, responsibilities and reporting 

relationships of each position;  

2. Providing Management the ability to hold employees 

accountable;  

3. Providing Management the ability to take necessary 

disciplinary actions and reduce risk of legal action; and 

4. Providing a reliable basis for evaluating the position for salary increases.  

 
Job Survey Results were used to determine which positions performed certain municipal functions to ensure 
that the most appropriate comparison was used.  
 
We asked employees in those positions to respond to a series of questions regarding the current required 
levels of knowledge, skills, abilities, education and other factors their position requires. This was completed 
by nearly all employees within 3-4 days.   
 
Job Surveys completed by each employee helped to determine the appropriate levels of education, 
knowledge, experience for each position. Management employees were asked to identify the position’s levels 
of skill (education, experience, and knowledge), responsibility (budget, operations, and interpersonal work) 
and community (networking), and non-management employees identified the level of effort (physical and 
mental demand) and working conditions to be expected in their position. Each job survey was weighted and 
scored, and the data was used to evaluate whether certain classifications were internally equitable or needing 
adjustment.  

 
Job audits were necessary to:  

 

✓ Create a simulated Classification System of all North Pole positions;  

✓ Analyze the existing Classification System for inequities; 

✓ Recommend adjustments and corrections to assure clarity and accountability within an 
updated Classification System;  

✓ Establish fair and equitable pay ranges to assure employees are assigned to the most 
appropriate pay classification; and   

✓ Reduce the risk the City might otherwise experience in human resource litigation.  

We used this information to: 

o Determine if the hierarchical relationships between classified positions are appropriate; and   

o Determine which positions are properly and improperly classified. 

 

000042



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 12 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Revisions to job descriptions – while not part of this assignment – should be completed per the 
recommendations in this study, and in conjunction with the approval and adoption of the new classification 
system and pay ranges.  
 
Results of the Job Audit are displayed in the Compensable Factors Analysis in the supplemental documents 
and Appendices. 
 

PHASE 3: CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM AUDIT: COMPENSABLE FACTORS ANALYSIS 
 
In addition to its future use in creating new job descriptions, data collected from the Job Surveys was used 
in determining appropriate levels of compensation. A Compensable Factors tool was used to allow a 
comparison of different positions within the City’s organization. Each position was evaluated, ratings were 
assigned and a total score developed for each position. Discussions with Department Heads further clarified 
the scores. (See Tables 1 & 2 below for illustrations and Appendix A for complete details). Results allowed 
us to:  

o Determine whether a position’s associated salary range was appropriately assigned,   

o Determine whether certain changes to existing classifications should be considered,  

o Determine (with the market salary results) whether all positions are correctly compensated, and 

o Recommend adjustments to the current Classification System. 

 

Table 1: Compensable Factors: Weighted Factors 

   

  

000043



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 13 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 2: Compensable Factors for Comparison & Classification:  

Management positions (sample)  

 

Using the common language of the Job Surveys, all job descriptions can be standardized and the 
Compensable Factors System can be easily understood and maintained by the City staff in the future. The 
Job Surveys should be used (a) whenever a new or restructured position is considered, and (b) when a 
position is considered for re-classification.  
 
A more complete explanation of the Job Survey, Classification System, and the Compensable Factors and 
their application is included in the supplemental information in the Appendix. 
 

4. COMPENSATION AUDIT: REGIONAL SALARY & BENEFITS STUDY 

 
With the necessary evaluation tools in place, our consultants contacted the appropriate comparable 
communities previously proposed by Municipal Solutions and approved by senior management. Benefit, job 
classification and salary range information were gathered from the following communities based on:  

 

a. Regional proximity to the City of North Pole,  
b. Similarity to the City in budget, population size and tax base, and 
c. Similarity in services provided.  

 
Obtaining data from other cities and agencies is always a challenge. Obtaining salary and benefits 
information requires direct and often constant contact with each of the agencies. Our consultants personally 
contacted representatives in each of the primary communities and asked them to send a copy of their Pay 
Classifications / Grades and full details on employee Benefits. Obtaining comparison data for most of the 
positions was not easy but most communities were able to provide the information while being limited on 
staff resources.  
 

000044



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 14 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Some agencies took between 2-3 months to provide us any usable salary or benefits data – despite 
committing to do so. Due to the timing of budget preparation in Alaska, COVID-19, and the variable nature 
of data gathering in general, our efforts exhaustive and to ensure that proper comparisons were appropriately 
identified, and enough comparisons were received for statistical significance.  Only in two instances did we 
encounter an unwillingness to accommodate the request for information.  This report reflects the most current 
salary and benefits data we could acquire.  
 
Initially, consultants and analysts contacted the following communities to be used as primary comparisons 
which included: 
 

Table 3:  Cities, Towns, Counties, and Organizations Surveyed 
 

Primary Cities Alternate Agencies 
 

City of Bethel                     City of Cordova  
Borough of Bristol Bay            Borough of Haines 
City of Homer       City of Kenai  
City of Ketchikan                     City of Kodiak   
Borough of Kodiak Island        City of Palmer  
City & Borough of Sitka           City of Soldotna  
City of Valdez        City of Wasilla 
City & Borough of Wrangell  
 

 
City of Fairbanks  City & Borough of Juneau 
Central Matsu Fire Dept.    Borough of Fairbanks North Star 
UAF Police Department     Fairbanks International Airport PD 
Fort Wainright                    Fort Greeley   
Clear Air Station 

 
Most of the cities and towns we gathered information from had a formalized pay or compensation plans. 
Their step systems – grades ranges – varied widely among these local governments. Some have multiple 
pay and compensation plans for collective bargaining units. Some local governments only reported actual 
pay – which is noted in the ‘notes’ column of the report. Most communities we observed appeared to distribute 
key municipal functions in a manner which compare to most positions in North Pole. Most of the local 
governments had a very close comparisons / matches for each of North Pole’s.  In several instances, some 
cities job classifications lacked sufficient data, sufficient comparables, or positions didn’t appear appropriate 
to use as a comparison.  While all positions don’t always clearly align with a counterpart position in North 
Pole, careful analysis of the materials provided and follow-up with local government representatives – and 
North Pole Department Heads – helped to assure close apples-to-apples comparisons were used. 
 
In the event that a classified North Pole position lacked fewer than 6 comparables in other communities, data 
from the alternate communities were examined and relevant information was included from comparable 
positions as appropriate. If after examining the primary and alternate communities failed to produce a 
comparable salary position comparison, the Compensable Factors analysis absorbs the rare positions and 
helps determine a close comparison for internal classification.  
 
Ms. Tungate, Mr. Larson and Mr. Morelli also assisted in direct communication with each comparator 
municipalities and special agencies.  Overall, the consulting team was responsible for: 
  

1. obtaining data from each of the participating cities and agencies,  

2. performing data entry,  

3. contact with communities to ensure enough accurate data was collected, and  

4. assisting in the entry of salary and benefits data and analysis. 

000045



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 15 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Some agencies have opted not to provide any information while others provided full policies and collective 
bargaining agreements and studies – some consisting of more than 500 pages. Data was not received from 
all agencies.  
 
This report addresses only the analysis of current versus market average salaries for most classified 
positions.  Where consultants were unable to identify enough comparable positions, benchmarking will occur 
through the use of the Compensable Factors Analysis Tool in recommending an appropriate salary range.   
 

Policy Discussion & Preliminary Review with Management & Staff (complete)  
 
Throughout the project, we continued to have ongoing meetings with the City Clerk, Finance Director, Police 
Chief, Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, City Accountant and Mayor to review the findings of this report and ‘dial-
in’ the accuracy and relevancy of the findings of our analysis. Where verification identified errors in the job 
descriptions, job classifications, or salary research corrections, these issues were discussed and considered. 
Where an organizational structure, job description, classification or pay / grade system from another city 
illustrates an alternative, we have incorporated these changes into our recommendations. 

 
Policy Discussion & Final Review with Council & Staff (pending)  
 

As with many of our studies, we anticipate a Work Session with the Council upon delivery of the Final Report 
– whether during a regular meeting or in a special session – to provide Council Members the opportunity to 
understand what the data is telling us, to allow the public an opportunity to learn about the ‘true value’ of a 
public servant, and why we recommended what we recommend.  
 
This draft Final Report represents the ‘reportable’ efforts of the consultant’s efforts and is intended for final 
discussion with City Administration before final adoption.  After any remaining feedback has been the 
consultant’s presentation to the City Council – either from Councilmembers or Employees, final adjustments 
will be made to the recommendations and incorporated into the submitted version of the Final Report.  
 

Report Finalization & Implementation Training (pending)     
 

Final training on the implementation of the new system occurs after the Final Report has been presented 
and approved.  As implementation can be a challenge – particularly if salary adjustments, freezes, increases 
or changes to benefits plans are recommended - we expect to discuss our recommendations with the Council 
to put them into context with the current financial and economic conditions of the City.   
 
Once the new system has been determined suitable for the City, key employees will need to be trained on 
its implementation and sustainability. Training on the new system – including use of all tools, surveys, 
spreadsheets will be made available to designated key staff who will be designated as custodians of these 
materials. The HR Director and Finance Director are generally recommended. Consultants will go through all 
materials and make sure implementation of recommendations is efficient. Effective and sustainable.  
 
Specific employees – most likely the HR Manager and City Accountant will become the custodians and 
guardians of the new system. We will conduct training of each element to assure the most effective 
implementation and utilization of the new Classification System and Pay Ranges to assure the highest the 
benefits to staff and assuring the long-term success.  
 

000046



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 16 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000047



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 17 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 SECTION III:  FINDINGS & RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

1. Job Descriptions: Inconsistent, Missing or Obsolete Job Descriptions.  
 

a. All positions need current descriptions. Many of the job descriptions for the 26 
classifications do not follow a common form or format. Some appear to have been updated 
in several years. Key functions, duties and relationships in some job descriptions were 
confusing and unclear to existing employees and managers.  Many are not consistent with 
the duties the employee currently performs, and the necessary skill levels, education, level 
of knowledge and experience required for the position. This was evidenced by the 
additional duties and responsibilities provided to us by staff during the Job Survey process. 
Some descriptions required re-working and/or were out of date with respect to standard 
terminology. 

 
Recommendation: With multiple or redundant versions of some Job Description, consolidation of some 
descriptions is recommended. 
 

2. Job Descriptions: Some are not FLSA / ADA compliant.  
 

a. Some of the Job Descriptions appear to have been updated recently and nicely correlate 
with one another in form and format, many do not appear to have been updated in several 
years.   

Examples: 
 

b. Sections of some job descriptions misinterpret key language of the ADA to include the 
entire job duties as Essential Job Functions and as a result, many descriptions are not 
consistent with the requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and the American 
with Disabilities Act (ADA) exposing the City to potential liabilities.  

 
Examples: 

 
Recommendations: Job descriptions need to be streamlined to avoid unnecessarily complicating the 
document, providing clarity to employees, accountability in reporting relationships, and minimize risk/ 
exposure to the City.   

 
3. Job Descriptions: Duties & Responsibilities vs. Essential Functions.  

 
a. Some Job Descriptions contain duties and responsibilities which are not essential, while 

other job descriptions omit critical data.  Cross department assignments or distinguishing 
characteristics of positions with similar titles are unclear, and in some instances reporting 
relationships are also unclear.  

 
Examples:  

 
Recommendation:  Same as #2 above.  

 
 

000048



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 18 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

4. Job Descriptions: Not linked to empirical classification system. Current Job Descriptions are 
not uniformly tied to compensation with any empirical method.  Without a method of tying job 
descriptions to the classification empirically, human-error and time can cause misclassifications 
and establishment of inappropriate rates of pay.   
 
Recommendation: Adopt the recommended Classification System.  See #6 below. 
 

5. Job Classifications: Not Enough unique Pay Classifications.  
 
After careful review, interviews and examination of job descriptions it was determined that some 
current Job Classifications warrant separate classifications. Creating separate classifications 
minimizes the potential for narrow-banding some jobs that are uniquely different which creates 
classification and pay inequity. Examples: 
 
Recommendation:  Adopt the recommended Classification System.  See #6 below. 

 
6. Job Classifications: Classification inequities exist.  

 
a. The City’s current Classification System inequitably bands some of the 24 positions narrowly 

into 15 separate classifications. There is no clear distinction for Management and non-
Management positions, and the existing classification system does not appear allow for easy 
evaluation of a position according to a common set of ‘compensable factors.’  

 
Table 4: Existing North Pole Classifications & Grades 

 

000049



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 19 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

b. Job classifications do not appear to tie directly to a standardized set of ‘compensable 
factors’ for management and non-management including: education, experience or 
knowledge required to perform the position requirements, physical, mental and networking 
responsibilities, and fiduciary and personnel (management) responsibilities (if any). See 
Table 5a & 5b (below).  

c. Some employees within the same classification appear to be performing uniquely different 
work or have significantly different compensable factors (certifications and / or skills, 
education, etc.) warranting a separate classification.  

Examples: More than one individual performing the duties of Utility Operator clearly have different 
functions due to a higher certification and experience with electronics.  Utility Assistant is similarly 
observed.  

d. Based on the Compensable Factors Analysis, some of the pre-existing positions appeared 
to be mis-classified and are either under-classified with the duties actually being performed 
or over-classified by the duties assigned or being performed.  This is illustrated in the 
Current Class / Grade column of Tables 6a & 6b (below).  

Example: One management position - the City Clerk has a current class / grade of 14 – similar to 
Police Chief, Fire Chief, and City Accountant / CFO, however the Compensable Factors Analysis 
illustrates significant differences which would require it to be classified at a lower classification. 
Also, several non-Management positions appear grossly misclassified including: Fire Captain, 
Public Works Assistant, Police Officer Recruit, Firefighter / EMT, Firefighter Recruit, Fire Engineer, 
Utility Assistant and Evidence Custodian. 

 

Table 5a: Classification Analysis for Management Positions  

 
 
 
 
 
 

000050



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 20 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 5b: Classification Analysis for non-Management Positions  

 
Without standardized language to be included in Job Descriptions, it is very difficult to maintain pay equity 
(fairness) among positions and puts the City at risk / exposure. Adopting a ‘measurable’, transparent and 
standardized classification system will ultimately allow the City to (a) assign an appropriate pay range for 
adjusted classifications, (b) assure appropriate compensation for all employees, (c) accurately forecast 
financial impact of salaries over multiple budget years, and (d) minimize risk / exposure to the City.  

 

Below is the recommended new classification system – which has been tested against the Market 
(illustrated later). 

 
 
 

000051



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 21 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 6b: Broadbanding of Current & Proposed Pay Grades: Management 
(w/ proposed grade changes)    

 

Table 6b: Broadbanding of Current & Proposed Pay Grades: non-Management 
(w/ proposed grade changes)   

  

000052



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 22 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Note: Broadbanding is a practice of creating parity among similar positions to reduce inequity in 
compensation and number of classifications for easy administration. 

Recommendations:  
  

a. Adopt the recommended Classification System based on Compensable Factors Analysis 
including the new Grades. Classifications should expanded, retitled (and compensated) 
differently. When uniquely classified positions are classified within the same range, this 
creates (unfair) inequity in compensation inequity. An equitable classification system 
minimizes risk / exposure to the City, while also assuring transparency and equity among 
all positions. 

b. Create separate classifications to reduce the potential and risk of misclassification and 
salary inequity, AND are valuable in assuring unique positions have been identified and 
salary ranges affixed – regardless of whether they are budgeted. Specifically, create the 
following new classifications: 

• Deputy City Manager  • HR Director / PIO • Senior Accountant 
• Utility Operator II  • Utility Operator I  • City Planner 
• Deputy City Clerk   • Utility Assistant II • Utility Assistant I 
• Firefighter Recruit  • Executive Assistant • Administrative Asst (PWD) 
• General Laborer 

 
o Deputy City Manager Classification: used simply as a baseline for the CAO roles. 

Many communities have an actual salary for their Mayor, and consultants created 
a baseline for future reference – regardless of the actual final title.  

o Utility Operator: appears to be two separate classifications compressed into one, 
and employee pay demonstrates inequity as a result. Recommending two 
separate classifications I & II  

o City Planner: recommended for classification purposes and future reference.  

o Deputy City Clerk: recommended for classification purposes and future use. 

o Firefighter Recruit: recommended for classification purposes and future use. 

o Executive Assistant: recommended for classification purposes and future use in all 
departments.   

o General Laborer: recommended for classification purposes and future reference 
 

c. Revise the following classifications to differentiate these positions, reduce risk of 
misclassification and salary inequity: 
 

• AP Tax & License Clerk • AR / Utility Billing Clerk  
 

o AR, AP, Utility Billing Clerk: Currently two employees serving under an aggregated 
title. Job Surveys and interviews determined that these are there are TWO unique 
positions and recommend classifications appropriate for what they do. 

 
 
 
 

000053



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 23 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

7. Job Classifications: Positions with difficult-to-observe Comparisons.  
 
Several classified positions in the City of North Pole appear to be unique in that comparable 
positions in communities, and were difficult to identify or did not exist at all. All cities have unique 
classifications which emphasizes the need for an internally and externally-based equitable 
classification system. Without an empirically-based classification system which rank-orders 
compensable factors such as levels of education, years of experience, and the physical working 
environment, all positions (not just irregular and new positions) cannot be properly classified and 
salary disparity is likely to occur.  
 
Positions with difficult to observe comparisons (less than 6 or not exact comparables) include: 
 

• City Clerk / HR Manager / PIO  • Director of City Services 
• City Accountant / CFO 

 
Most comparable communities have classifications for City Clerk, HR Manager or Director, and / or 
Public Information Officer, however most do not have a combined classification with all three key 
functions. This occurrence in North Pole creates pay compression and inequity.   

 

o City Accountant / CFO:  Title listed in the Code, generally has high levels of Compensable Factors 
(education, experience, knowledge, etc.) which is directly tied to both classification within the pay 
system AND a high rate of pay. According to the Compensable Factors Analysis and Market 
Salary Study results – a junior CFO position is warranted.   

o City Clerk / HR Manager / PIO: Our Job Surveys and Compensable Factors Analysis identified 
that the City Clerk is performing HR Functions as well as some Public Information duties. The 
Compensable Factors (levels of education, experience, knowledge, etc.), the need for two 
separate classifications for HR Manager and City Clerk. Most municipalities have separate 
classifications, and unique pay ranges for each.  

o Director of City Services is also a unique position in the that City of North Pole combines the 
functions of Public Works Director with Building Official, Planner, Code Enforcement and more.  

 

Recommendations: See 6b above.    

  
8. Salaries: Current minimum Pay Ranges are consistently too low and too wide when 

compared to the Market – more significantly for Management than for non-Management positions. 
  

Results from the market research clearly illustrates that the width of North Pole’s salary ranges 
(between minimum and maximum salary) is much broader than comparable cities, towns and 
boroughs. On average, North Pole’s Management classifications are $40,000 wide while the 
comparable communities are much narrower. See Table 7a and 7b below.  

 
Recommendations: All recommendations for #8-13 are included at the end of Finding #13. 

 

 
 
 
 

  

000054



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 24 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 7a: Salary Range Width for Management Positions  
See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 
Table 7b: Salary Range Width for non-Management Positions 

 

000055



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 25 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

9. Salaries: The City’s current minimum and maximum pay ranges for Management and non-
Management positions are lower than the market minimum, with some exceptions*.  
 

Non-Management classification pay ranges slightly are more consistent with the market, but is more 
pronounced for Management positions. See Tables 8a & 8b below.  
 
*The current maximum pay ranges for the following positions are higher than the market: 

• Senior Accountant   • Fire Lieutenant   • Police Officer Recruit 
• Utility Operator   • Fire Engineer  • Firefighter / EMT 
• AP / Tax & License Clerk  • AR Utility Billing Clerk  • Utility Assistant  
• Evidence Custodian     • Administrative Assistants 

 

*The current maximum pay ranges for the following positions are significantly under the market: 
• Public Works Assistant (significantly under)  • Police Sergeant (significantly under)  
• Fire Captain (significantly under)   • Fire Engineer (slightly over) 
• Utility Assistant I (significantly over), 

 
Table 8a: Minimum & Maximum Salary Ranges for Management Positions 

See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 
Table 8b: Minimum & Maximum Salary Ranges for non-Management Positions 

 
 

000056



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 26 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 
 
 
 

10. Salaries: Actual Salaries for all employees are above the current pay range minimum*. 
 

All employees at the highest rate of pay within each classification appear to be receiving pay at or above the 
minimum level of pay required in the current pay ranges. Some employees may be currently being paid at a 
rate lower than the minimum. If any employees are paid at a rate lower than the current minimum, their 
minimum salary should be increased (in the least) to the minimum of the pay grade (and higher if 
warranted).  
 
See Table 9a & 9b for details – noted classifications are highlighted in RED.  
 

11. Salaries: Actual Salaries for some employees are above the current pay range maximum.  
 

Several Management and non-Management employees within the current pay ranges system are paid in 
excess of the current pay range maximum or at the maximum of the range.  

 
See Table 9a & 9b for details – noted classifications are highlighted in RED.  

 
Management Positions over the current maximum salary range include:  

• Director of City Services (significantly over $68,000) 
• Police Chief (significantly over, $17,000)  • Fire Chief (significantly over $6,000) 
• Deputy Fire Chief (maxed, top of range)  • Police Lieutenant (maxed, top of range)  

 

Non-Management Positions over the current maximum salary range include:  
• Utility Supervisor (significantly over $29,000) • Police Detective (maxed, top of range) 
• Utility Operator (over $9,500)   • Police Officer (maxed, top of range) 
• AP Tax & License Clerk (over $4,000)  

 

 

000057



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 27 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 9a: Actual Pay vs. Pay Ranges - Management Positions 
See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 
Table 9b: Actual Pay vs. Pay Ranges – non-Management Positions 

 

 
 
 

000058



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 28 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

12. Salaries: Actual Salaries for some employees are below the ‘market’ maximum.  
 

Several Management and non-Management employees within the market analysis are paid in excess of the 
current pay range maximum or at the maximum of the range.  
 
See Table 9a & 9b for details – noted classifications are highlighted in RED.  
 

Management Positions under the current minimum ‘market’ salary range include:  
• City Accountant / CFO (under $13,000 as Finance Director, in range as Senior Accountant)* 
• City Clerk (under $8,500 as Clerk only, under $17,500 as City Clerk / HR Manager / PIO. 

 

* appear to be mis-classified. Current classification does not compare to market comparables.  
 

Non-Management Positions under the current maximum ‘market’ salary range include: 
• Public Works Assistant (under, $1,500) 

 
13. Salaries: Actual salaries for some employees are above the ‘market’ maximum.  

 

Several Management and non-Management employees within the market analysis are paid in excess of the 
current pay range maximum or at the maximum of the range. 
 
See Table 9a & 9b for details – noted classifications are highlighted in RED.  

 

Management Positions above the current maximum ‘market’ salary range include:  

• Director of City Services (significantly over, $43,000) 
 

Non-Management Positions over the current maximum ‘market’ salary range include: 

• Utility Supervisor (significantly over, $23,000) • Police Detective (slightly over, $1,500) 
• Utility Operator (significantly $11,500)  • Police Officer (not all, maxed, top of range) 
• AP Tax & License Clerk (over $6,300)   • Utility Assistant (at maximum) 

 
Recommendations for #8 - 13:  

  

a. Employee salaries who exceed the current range should be frozen (until new pay ranges are 
adopted) to maintain equity within the existing system, assure fair employee compensation and 
minimize risk / liability to the City.  See Tables 10a & 10b below for proposed new pay ranges..  

 

Management positions with recommended pay freezes:  
• Police Chief   • Fire Chief  • Director of City Services 
• Deputy Fire Chief  • Police Lieutenant 
 

Non-Management    
• Police Detective  • Utility Supervisor* • Utility Operator* 
• Police Officer   • Utility Assistant*  • AP Tax & License Clerk* 

 

b. All positions impacted by Moose Creek development should have a Pay Differential (see 
Recommendation #14).   
 

c. Adopt the proposed new Pay Scale for Management and Non-Management classifications.  

.    
Positions below the new range minimum should be brought to (at the least) the range minimum.  
Positions exceeding the new range maximum should be frozen. 
 
Samples provided below include 1.5% step and 3.0% step options.  

Benefits of the new Management Pay Scale:  
 

000059



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 29 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

✓ Internally equitable & externally competitive (‘roughly proportional’ with the market), 
✓ Narrows the pay ranges to more closely align with market best-practices, 
✓ Increases pay range minimums and maximums for most classifications, 
✓ 1.05% increase between pay classifications (vertical), 
✓ No management positions under the range, 
✓ 1 position under the minimum: City Clerk / HR Manager, 
✓ 2 positions remain over the maximum: Director of City Service (freeze) & Police Lieutenant 

(reclassify), and  
✓ Proposed reserved ranges for future use.  
 

Fiscal Impact: $4,500 to get Clerk / HR Manager to minimum 

 
Benefits of the new non-Management Pay Scale:  

- Internally equitable & externally competitive (‘roughly proportional’ with the market), 
- Increases pay range minimums for most classifications,  
- Increases maximum for some upper-level classifications,  
- Narrows the pay ranges to more closely align with market best-practices, 
- 1.0375% increase between pay classifications (vertical), 
- No positions under the minimum,  
- 6 positions over the maximum: Utility Supervisor (freeze), Police Detective (freeze or reclassify), 

Utility Operator (freeze), AP Tax & License Clerk (freeze), Utility Assistant (freeze), and  
- Proposed reserved ranges for future use.  
 

Fiscal Impact: $0.   
 

*Frozen salaries or re-classification of position if warranted.  

 
 

Table 10a: Proposed New Pay Ranges - Management Positions w/ 1.5% and 3% steps 
See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 

000060



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 30 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

1.5% Option: 22 to 29 steps at 1.5% intervals, maximum step varies %. 

 
3% Option: 12 to 16 steps at 3% intervals, last step varies in % 

 
 

000061



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 31 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 10b: Proposed New Pay Ranges – non-Management Positions 
See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 
1.5% Option: 36 steps at 1.5% intervals, last step .46%

 

000062



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 32 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

3% Option: 19 steps at 3% intervals, last step .85% 

 
14. Salaries: Abuse / Inequity of Pay Differentials. Application of ‘special conditions’ creates 

pay inequity and opens the City up for litigation if (a) practice is not policy, and (b) if policy 
is not uniformly applied.  
 
In researching the observed pay inequities of some utility positions, consultants became acquainted with the 
current practice of paying some employees for additional impact to their position beyond their normal duties 
- outside the maximum pay range. Consultants are familiar with the significant impact that commercial / 
residential developments and utility projects can have on a local government, however best-practices in 
Financial Management AND Risk Management.  
 
Positions likely impacted by Moose Creek:  

• Administrative / Legal positions: City Attorney & Mayor  
• Finance positions: City Accountant / CFO 
• Clerical positions: City Clerk / Human Resources, AP License Clerk, AR Utility Billing Clerk, Fiscal 
/ Fund Accounting Clerk, Records Clerk  
• Utility positions: Utility Supervisor, Utility Operator, Utility Assistant  

 
Recommendations: 

(a) Determine of actual / anticipated general impact on overall municipal resources and services,  
(b) Determine of actual / anticipated specific impact on every position affected,  
(c) Create of a uniform policy regarding compensation such as pay differentials, how they apply, when 

they are to go into effect and when they are to be discontinued*, and  
(d) Determine and memorialization of $ amounts and salary adjustments*, if any. 
 
* Note: IRS guidelines must be followed with regards to Exempt and non-Exempt employees, 
accumulation of pay-based benefits calculations, overtime, leave, retirement, etc.  

000063



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 33 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

15. Personnel Budgets: Comparison of Local Government Budgets and distribution of 
Personnel Expenses illustrates that: 
 

a. North Pole has more 30% employees per capita than comparable cities, 
b. North Pole spends 2.74% more of its Gen. Fund Budget on Personnel Expenses,  
c. North Pole spends 2.43% more of its Gen. Fund Personnel Expenses on Salaries, and 2.43% less 

of its Gen. Fund Personnel Expenses on Benefits  

 
Table 11a: Local Government – General Fund Personnel Expense Comparison  

See Appendix ___ for more details. 

 
Table 11b: Local Government General Fund Budgets – Salary & Benefits Comparison 

 

000064



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 34 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

16. Benefits: Comparable benefits research shows that there are opportunities for City of North 
Pole to promote its competitiveness and to further the health of the City employees and 
Council and community.  Several Findings are reported below. 

 
a. Salary & Pay Increase Policies: <underway> 

b. Vacation & Sick Leave Policies:   <underway> 

Unfunded Vacation and Sick Leave: North Pole has a substantial unfunded liabilities --
vacation and sick leave combined is $278,240.  Annual accrual and carry-over limitations and payout 
amounts of sick and vacation pay is an ongoing burden that is not formally recognized in the budget 
process. 

c. Group Insurance: <underway> 

i. General Employees: <underway> 

ii. Law Enforcement Employees: <underway> 

iii. Fire / EMS Employees<underway> 

d. Paid Holidays: <underway> 

e. Retirement: <underway> 

f. Pension & Deferred Compensation: <underway> 

 
Recommendations: 
 

a. Form a Council / Employee Benefits Committee to meet regularly and review current benefits, 
alternatives and recommend potential changes to the Mayor and City Council. Such a committee 
should consist of one to three (1 - 3) Councilmember, the Human Resources Director, the Finance 
Director, and two (2) staff representatives from the two largest departments in terms of (a) budget 
expenditures and (b) # of employees. In North Pole this would likely be the Director of City 
Services and Chief of Police.  

 
Councilmembers are not generally HR or Finance experts however it is important that 
elected officials understand the mechanics and details of the City’s benefits system, and 
how it impacts (a) employee attraction, morale and retention, and (b) short and long-term 
fiscal health of the City.  Rather than surprise elected officials with changes to salaries and 
benefits, elected officials participating in the Benefits Committee will provide long-term 
continuity and success of the City’s budget  
 
Objectives of the Committee would be: 
- Discuss what the members of the Committee value in local government,  
- Review the benefits details provided by the comparable local governments,  
- Identify benefits policies from other comparable local governments which are of particular 

interest for future consideration to North Pole,  
- Set specific goals, milestones and deadlines for research and committee member updates.    
  

b.  <pending> 
  

c. <pending> 

 
 

000065



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 35 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

17. Policy: No standardized policy guides Department Heads when recommending Pay Increases 
currently exists.  

 
Pay increases appear to be arbitrary, position-specific, and not based on a rational nexus. Consultants were 
unable to identify the presence of a standardized employee salary increase policy including an easy-to-
follow step and grade system for each classification.  
 

18. Policy: Personnel Evaluations are not standardized; Pay Increases are not systematically tied 
to Performance Evaluations. 

 
Consultants were unable to identify a standardized evaluation format / process which is used by all 
departments. In fact, it appears that various departments use different tools for evaluation, and these tools 
do not appear to be comprehensive enough to support either a performance / merit-based salary increases 
or career planning.   
   

19. Employee Retention: Career / Succession Planning and Professional Development appears 
to be lacking.  

Staff retention is not simply a function of salaries and benefits, but also a by-product of a positive work culture 
which enhances personal and professional growth opportunities. An opportunity exists within North Pole to 
improve Succession Planning and Career Planning within the organization for each position to provide 
employees with knowledge about future job opportunities and value of continued city employment.  No 
succession plans or succession planning or career planning activities were observed during consultations 
with staff.  

Additionally, while employee longevity and start-date information was not collected as part of this study, the 
City needs to know how many employees will retire within 5 to 10 years, and require department heads to 
work with staff to develop succession plans for key positions. Often cities are not prepared for the resulting 
impact as employees leave with vast experience and knowledge.  

Attainment of job-related certifications and education have costs.  Many of the agencies in the Education Pay 
Incentives Chart (below) offer, upon degree completion, a monetary amount per year ($100 to $250 per year), 
or an hourly differential. 

Recommendations for Findings #17 & 19: 
 

a. Adopt a standard maximum 1.5% Merit-based Pay Increase Policy.  
b. Adopt a standard Performance Evaluation which involves an annual Work Plan with activities 

(certifications, education, skills development, training, etc.) directly tied to Pay Increases - up to 3 x 
.5% attached is recommended. Pay Increases are thus based on performance and added value to 
the City, not simply COLA or longevity.  See Appendix ___ for details. 

 

  

000066



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 36 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000067



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 37 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 SECTION IV: EXHIBITS & APPENDIX 

Exhibits / Appendices to the Final Report include:  
 

A. Compensable Factors Classification Guidelines, Job Surveys & Assessment Results  

B. General Fund Personnel Costs vs. Comparable Cities 
C. Salary Survey Results  
D. Recommended New Job Classifications and Proposed Pay Ranges 
E. Benefits Survey Results 

1. Salary & Pay Increases 

2. Paid Vacation 
3. Sick Leave 
4. Group Insurance - General Employees 
5. Group Insurance – Police 
6. Group Insurance – Fire 
7. Paid Holidays 
8. General Employee Retirement 

F. Proposed Incentive Pay Examples 
G. Proposed 360° Performance Evaluation  
 

  

000068



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 38 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000069



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 39 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX A: COMPENSABLE FACTORS CLASSIFICATION GUIDELINES, JOB 

SURVEYS & ASSESSMENT RESULTS  
 
The following outlines how and why the consultants used this tool in comparing positions.   
 
Pre-developed Compensable Factors are used as a method of comparing positions that are 
normally difficult to compare – Police Chief to Library Assistant to Recreation Worker to any other 
position. Specifically, this tool is used to:  
 

(a) determine the unique characteristics of a position in the City,  
(b) the unique characteristics of any position in comparison to another,  
(c) to determine common ‘bands’ or uniquely similar positions and  
(d) to compare these ‘common positions’ with the existing pay grades to determine 
whether they are equitable – internally and externally.  

 
This tool can be very useful in determining internal and external equity of pay classifications and 
associated pay grades. 
 
These factors involve quantifying the knowledge, skills, abilities and experience necessary to 
perform each job.  They vary from position to position and depend on supervisory requirements 
as well as the manual requirements.  For example, a mechanic must perform physical labor in a 
potentially hazardous working environment.  It does not require, however, that the position 
oversee a budget or network with the community.  The City Clerk, on the hand, must do the latter 
but not the former (unless, of course, he has a hostile council creating an environment which is 
hazardous to his health).  An example for how our compensable factor for education works is 
below. A complete list and a definition for each is listed below.   

 

Skills Example 

Education: 
  

First Degree: High school diploma or equivalent. 
 
Second Degree: Two year degree from an accredited college or junior college. 
 
Third Degree: Bachelor’s degree in Public Administration, Business, Accounting or other related 

advanced degree pertaining to a relevant field. 
 

If the position required a high school degree, the position would be considered first degree in 
terms of education.  If it required a Bachelors degree, it would be considered a third degree 
position in terms of education. Note that a full explanation of the compensable factors is 
provided in this Appendix.  Additionally the weighting of the factors varies according to the 
level of the position.  It is, for example, very important for the City Clerk to have a Bachelors 
Degree while is it not for a mechanic.  Differences between Management and non-
Management are explained below. 

000070



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 40 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Management Compensable Factors 
 
Skill 

Education: 
 

First Degree: Holder of High School Diploma or equivalent education. 
 
Second Degree: Holder of a Bachelors degree in Engineering, Science, Public Administration, 

Business, Accounting or other related degree pertaining to a relevant field. 
 
Third Degree: Holder of an advanced degree above the Bachelors degree.  Preferable in 

Masters Public Administration, Masters in Business Administration, Masters of 
Accountancy or other related advanced degree pertaining to a relevant field. 

 
Experience: 

 
First Degree: Less than 3 years experience in a comparable position at another City or city 

or in the private sector. 
 
Second Degree: Three to five years experience in a comparable position at another City or 

city or in the private sector. 
 
Third Degree: More than 5 years experience in a comparable position at another City or city 

or in the private sector. 
 

  Knowledge: 
 

First Degree: Use of mathematics with the use of complicated drawing, specifications, 
charts, tables; various types of precision measuring interments.  Equivalent 
to one to three years’ applied trades training in a particular or specialized 
occupation. 

 
Second Degree: Use of intermediate knowledge of law, mathematics, finance, budgeting, 

personnel management and public administration and or the use of 
complicated drawings, specifications, charts, tables, handbooks formulas; all 
varieties of precision measuring instruments.  Equivalent to complete 
accredited apprenticeship in a recognized trade, craft or occupation; or 
equivalent to a four-year college.  

 
Third Degree: Use of a high mathematics involved in the application of business principles 

and the performance of related practical operation, together with a 
comprehensive knowledge of the theories and practices of law, public 
administration, finance, budgeting, personnel management, mechanical, 
electrical, chemical, civil, or like engineering field.  Equivalent to 
completing an advanced degree form an accredited university.  

Responsibility 
 

Budget: 
 

First Degree: Responsible for general oversight of funds and some distribution to various 
entities. 

 
Second Degree: Responsible for oversight of funds, assisting in the writing of grants and 

proposals to support the Department’s operations budget, and / or 
facilitating intergovernmental financial support for municipal operations.  

 

000071



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 41 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Third Degree: Responsible for the oversight of Department funds, evaluating and 
recommending rate restructuring, writing grants and proposals as a principal 
source to the Department’s operations budget or the City’s General Fund, 
and / or facilitating intergovernmental financial support for operations.  

 

Oversee Operations: 
 
First Degree: General oversight of operation with in a functional area. 
 
Second Degree: Responsibility of an area with moderate control of various staff and resource 

support within a functional area.  
 

Third Degree: Major oversight of multiple department operations and / or multiple 
functional areas, various staff and resource support within this department 
and among other departments within the City. 

 

Work with Others: 
 
First Degree: Works with others within a functional area. 
 
Second Degree: Works with others within functional area and occasionally into other areas, 

and coordinates activities that require cross-functional support.  
 

Third Degree: Works in an extensive capacity within other functional areas, including 
making recommendations to the City Council (or other Boards and 
Commissions) on various issues. 

 

Community  
 

Networking: 
 

First Degree Works with community on various issues and internal matters dealing with 
managers in functional area. 

 
Second Degree Work with community on various issues for internal matters and external 

matters. Handles all cross-functional interactions as needed. Occasionally 
informs the public or responds to public comment, or informs residents and 
groups on City issues. 

 
Third Degree Works with community on various issues in community development and 

business issues. Regularly informs the public, responds to public comment, 
or informs residents and groups on City issues. 

  

000072



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 42 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Non-Management Compensable Factors 

Skill 

Education: 
  

First Degree:     Holder of High School Diploma or equivalent education. 
 
Second Degree:    Holder of an applied science degree or at least two year of secondary 

education at an accredited college. 
 
Third Degree:       Holder of a Bachelors degree in Public Administration, Business, Accounting 

or other related advanced degree pertaining to a relevant field. 
 

Experience: 
 

First Degree: Less than five years of experience in a similar position. 
 
Second Degree: Five years experience at a related position or at least three years of 

experience in the next lower position. 
 
Third Degree: Eight years or more experience at a related position or at least five years of 

experience in the next lower position. 
 

  Knowledge: 
 

First Degree: Use of reading and writing, adding and subtraction of whole numbers;  
following of instructions; use of fixed gauges, direct reading of instruments, 
and similar devices; where interpretation is not required. Beginner’s 
knowledge of basic computer and technical skills. 

 
Second Degree: Use of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division of numbers including 

decimals and fractions. Simple use of formulas, charts, tables, drawing, 
specifications, schedules, wiring diagrams, use of adjustable measuring 
instruments, checking of reports, forms, records and comparable data where 
interpretation is required. Intermediate knowledge of basic computer and 
technical skills. 

 
Third Degree:    Use of mathematics with the use of complicated drawings, specifications, 

charts, tables, and various types of precision measuring instruments. 
Equivalent to one to three years applied trades training in a particular or 
specialized occupation. Advanced knowledge of basic computer and technical 
skills. 

Effort 
 

Physical Demand: 
 

First Degree: Light lifting of objects that are generally less than 20 pounds with assistance.  
General office work with limited (organizational) filling of documents. 
Minimal standing, walking, crawling or climbing.  

 
Second Degree Medium to heavy lifting of objects that are generally less than 50 pounds 

with assistance, occasional climbing and carrying of objects. General office 
or file and documents maintenance work with recurring movement, lifting or 
frequency. Recurring standing, walking, crawling or climbing. 

 

000073



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 43 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Third Degree Medium to heavy lifting of objects that may exceed more than 50 pounds 
with assistance. General office work and medium to heavy file and document 
maintenance work with movement, lifting or high frequency including 
operation of office and / or heavy equipment. High frequency of standing, 
walking, crawling or climbing.  

 
Mental Demand: 
 

First Degree: Requires little or no decision making for day to day operations of a functional 
area.  Often takes direction from superiors when performing tasks. 

 
Second Degree: Requires moderate independent decision making / interpretation within 

duties or daily operations within a functional area.  Superiors have delegated 
certain authority over general tasks. 

 
Third Degree: Requires moderate to heavy independent decision making within duties or 

daily operations and within in the allocation of resources, time or equipment. 

 
Job Conditions 
 

Working Conditions: 
 

First Degree Works in non-hazardous conditions and have general contact with internal 
and external customers. 

 
Second Degree Occasionally works in semi-hazardous or occasionally hazardous conditions. 

Interfaces with internal and external customers on special projects that 
require employee to consult external help from other functional areas. 

 
Third Degree Regularly works in hazardous or potentially hazardous conditions with heavy 

equipment that is sensitive to over-handling. Frequently works with external 
customers on a regular basis. 

 

  

000074



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 44 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000075



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 45 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Job Surveys: Management & Non-Management 
 

EMPLOYEE JOB DESCRIPTION SURVEY 

MANAGEMENT POSITIONS - KEY ELEMENTS 

 

 
 
Introduction & Overview: 
 
Municipal Solutions, llc is currently gathering salary and compensation data from other comparable 
communities throughout the region to ensure employee salaries and benefits in North Pole are 
competitive and appropriate. As part of this work, revisions to the City’s Job Descriptions are being 
made to ensure that all descriptions meet current legal standards, better correlate with compensation 
and provide clarity to the individual currently in that position.  
 
This survey is used to determine whether certain key elements are properly identified and contained 
in current job description to adequately reflect the essential levels of experience, education, skill and 
effort that distinguish one position from another. Such distinction and similarities help to ensure 
appropriate levels of compensation between all City staff and among similar positions other 
communities.    
 
Please take a few minutes to consider your position and suggest appropriate responses for each 
question. 
 
In order to ensure the results from regional research, they need to clearly understand the KSAs (levels 
of knowledge, skills and abilities), levels of education, experience, and levels of effort and 
responsibility that is appropriate for someone in your position. The survey is not an evaluation of the 
person currently employed in this position, nor should it reflect the current employee’s KSAs. Rather 
this survey is designed to be completed by the person currently employed in this position, and reflect 
what the position itself requires for anyone filling the position.   

NOTE: Whether or not you meet these requirements is not important, They are not changing the 
functional duties of the job descriptions at this time.   

Instructions:  

1. All employees, including part-time and seasonal employees, should complete the 
following survey.  

2. If the position you are currently in is considered ‘Management’, please fill out the 
Management survey only.  

3. If your position is considered ‘non-Management’, please fill out the non-Management survey 
only. Seasonal employees and volunteers are to fill out the non-Management survey 

4. If you don’t know the appropriate answer to a question, leave the box blank and offer a 
recommendation and comment in the ‘Details’ box. 

5. Give the results to Aaron by Friday, October 2nd by 5:00 PM.  
6. Aaron will collect and deliver to Dave Evertsen, Principal. 
 
If you have any questions, please call David Evertsen directly at 623.207.1309 or email at 

devertsen@municipalsolutions.org.   
 

 

000076

mailto:devertsen@municipalsolutions.org
mailto:devertsen@municipalsolutions.org


City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 46 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Management Position Questions 
 

Department:       

Position Title:       

Your Name:       

Reports To:       

Total # I Supervise       
 
 

My position is currently: (check most appropriate boxes)  
  

 Appointed  Contract   Salary      Hourly   Full-time   Part-time      Other 

 
(if other, please explain) 

Details:       

 

ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS & ABILITIES:  
 

When determining what level of knowledge, skills, experience and abilities are 
essential for your position, think about the following statements and check the one 
which most appropriately applies. You should reflect upon what the position would 
require if the City needed to fill your position. Do not include what your current 
education level or ability. 

 
Example: You may have been in this position for 12 years, though you worked up into the 
position. You may feel that someone following you in that position should have a minimum 
of 5 years experience in certain trades or skills. List the standard, and any details. 

Skill 
Education: 
Are there any certificates, licenses or registrations required to perform the essential duties 
and responsibilities?  X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional 
detail. 

 
 Hold a High School diploma, general education degree, professional certificate from 

college or technical school or equivalent education. 
 

 Hold a Four-year degree (Bachelor’s (B.A.)) from an accredited college or university in 
Engineering, Science, Public Administration, Business, Accounting or other related 
degree relevant to current position. 

.  
 Hold an advanced degree above the Bachelors degree.  Preferable in Masters Public 

Administration, Masters in Business Administration, Masters of Accountancy or other 
related advanced degree pertaining to a relevant field. 

           

000077



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 47 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Details:       

 
Experience: 
Select the level of education needed to successfully accomplish the essential duties of this 
position.  This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed for the job. If your 
level of needed education is not listed below, simply write it in below. X  Mark the appropriate 
box below and please list any additional detail. 

 
 Less than 3 years experience in a comparable position at another municipality or in the 

private sector. 
 

 3 to 5 years experience in a comparable position at another municipality or in  

 the private sector. 
 

 More than 5 years experience in a comparable position at another municipality or in  

 the private sector. 
 

Details:       

 
Knowledge: 
Please select the level of knowledge or technical skills needed to successfully accomplish the 
essential duties of this position. This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed 
for the job. Please provide details (such as specific technical, computer, language, or other 
skills or knowledge) below if necessary. X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any 
additional detail. 

 
 Use of basic knowledge in mathematics or equivalent technical skills necessary to review 

and prepare of complicated drawing, specifications, charts, tables; various types of 
precision measuring interments and techniques.  Equivalent to one to three years’ 
applied trades training in a particular or specialized occupation. 

 

 Use of intermediate knowledge of law, mathematics, finance, budgeting, personnel 

management and public administration and or the use of complicated drawings, 
specifications, charts, tables, handbooks formulas; all varieties of precision measuring 
instruments.  Equivalent to complete accredited apprenticeship in a recognized trade, 
craft or occupation; or equivalent to a four-year college degree.  

 

 Use of an advanced knowledge of mathematics or equivalent technical skills used in the 

application of business principles and the performance of related practical operation, 
together with a comprehensive knowledge of the theories and practices of law, public 
administration, finance, budgeting, personnel management, mechanical, electrical, 
chemical, civil, or like engineering field.  Equivalent to completing an advanced degree 
(Masters, Juris Doctorate or Doctorate) from an accredited university.  

 

000078



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 48 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Details:       

 

 
Responsibility 

 
Budget: 
What level of finance / budget oversight does this position require? To what degree is this 
position responsible for the department’s budget, expenses, purchasing, revenue, and rates for 
services it provides.   X  Mark the appropriate box below. 

 
 Responsible for limited oversight of funds and some distribution to various entities, 

including purchasing, payroll, and documentation. In this position, such authority is 
generally delegated, infrequent or limited in authority. 

 

 Responsible for moderate oversight of funds, assisting in the writing of grants and 

proposals to support the Department’s operational budget, and / or facilitating 
intergovernmental financial support for municipal operations. Moderate oversight of 
funds & distribution, processing & overseeing purchasing, payroll, & documentation for 
example. 

 

 Responsible for extensive oversight of department funds, evaluating and recommending 

rate restructuring, writing grants and proposals as a principal source to the department’s 
operations budget or the General Fund, and / or facilitating intergovernmental financial 
support for operations. Principal accountability for the Department’s budget and fiscal 
management falls under this position’s responsibility. 

 

Details:       

 
Oversee Operations: 
Please select the level of oversight needed to successfully accomplish the essential duties of 
this position. This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed for the job.  
X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 
  

 Requires responsibility for and general oversight over one or two departmental 

operations or functional areas with limited control of staff and financial resources within 
the department. 

  
 Requires an intermediate level of responsibility for and oversight of multiple 

departmental operations or functional areas with moderate control of various staff and 
resource support within those functional areas, sometimes requiring interdepartmental 
coordination of staff and resources. 

 

 Requires major oversight of multiple department operations and / or multiple functional 

areas, various staff and resource support within this department and among other 
departments within the City. 

000079



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 49 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 

Details:       

 
Working with Others: 
Please select the level of interaction needed to successfully accomplish the essential duties of 
this position. This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed for the job. 
 X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 
 

 Works with others within a functional area. 

 

  Works with others within functional area and occasionally into other areas, and 

coordinates activities that require cross-functional support.  
 

 Works in an extensive capacity within other functional areas, including making 

recommendations to the Commission (or other Boards / Commissions) on various issues. 
 

Details:       

 

Community: 
 
Networking: 
Does this position require that a person interact with people within and outside of the 
organization?  Select one of the following characteristics that most appropriately describe the 
networking responsibilities and duties of the position. Please mark the appropriate box. Provide 
additional detail below if necessary. 
 

 Work to resolve various issues and internal matters through managers or supervisors 

dealing with community residents or businesses only within my department or functional 
area. 

 

 Work with community residents or businesses, elected officials or other community 

groups on various issues for internal and external matters and / or handle some cross-
departmental or cross-functional interactions as necessary. This position is required to 
inform the public or responds to public comment, informs residents and groups on City 
issues. 

 

 Frequently work with community residents or businesses, elected officials or other 

community groups on various issues for internal and external matters media or press on 
various issues in community development and business issues. Regularly informs the 
public, responds to public comment, meets or corresponds with press or media, and 
informs residents and groups on City issues often in person. 

   
 
 
 

000080



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 50 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

X Mark all that apply.  
 

 Residents (Youth)  Residents (Adults) 

 Local Elected Officials  Regional & State Elected Officials 

 Local News Media   Regional & State Media  

 County Department Heads  State Agency / Department Heads 

 Local Businesses  Regional Professional Associations 

 Council of Governments  Community Groups (Rotary, Lions, other…) 

 Others:   Others:  

 
 
 
Duties: Please comment on or list your duties as currently assigned.  
      

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Additional Comments: Are there any other circumstances or details about this position which may 
require special qualifications, skills or abilities. Please provide additional information below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       

 
 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey. 
 

Please attach a copy of your current job description and return both documents to Klo Abeita 
immediately. The results from this survey will be used to update all job descriptions and will 

be available for viewing in the coming weeks. 

  

000081



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 51 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Non-Management Position Questions 
 

Department:       

Position Title:       

Your Name:       

Reports To:       

Total # I Supervise       
 
 

My position is currently: (check most appropriate)  
  

 Appointed   Contract    Salary   Hourly   Full-time    Part-time    Seasonal   Other 

 
(if other, please explain) 

Details:       
 
 
 

 

 

ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS & ABILITIES:  
 

When determining what level of knowledge, skills, experience and abilities are 
essential for your position, think about the following statements and check the one 
which most appropriately applies. You should reflect upon what the position would 
require if the City needed to fill your position. Do not include what your current 
education level or ability is. 

 

Example: You may have been in this position for 12 years, though you worked up 
into the position. You may feel that someone following you in that position 
should have a minimum of 5 years experience in certain trades or skills. List the 
standard, and any details. 

Skill 
Education: 
Are there any certificates, licenses or registrations required to perform the essential duties 
and responsibilities?  X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional 
detail. 

 
 No prior training; less than high school education. 

 
 High school diploma or general education degree (GED); post-high school education or 

professional certificate from college or technical school. 
 

 Two or Four-year degree (Associate’s (A.A.) or Bachelor’s (B.A.)) from an accredited 
college or university.  

            

000082



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 52 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Details:       

 
Experience: 
Select the level of education needed to successfully accomplish the essential duties of this 
position.  This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed for the job. If your 
level of needed education is not listed below, simply write it in below.  
X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 

 
 No prior experience to one year experience. 

 

 One to three years experience at a related or next lower position. 

 

 More than three years experience (please detail below) at a related or next lower 

position. 
            

Details:       

 
 
Knowledge: 
Please select the level of knowledge or technical skills needed to successfully accomplish the 
essential duties of this position. This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed 
for the job. Please provide details (such as specific technical, computer, language, or other 
skills or knowledge) below if necessary.  
X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 

 
 Use of reading and writing, adding and subtraction of whole numbers; following of 

instructions; use of fixed gauges, direct reading of instruments, and similar devices; 
where interpretation is not required. Beginner’s knowledge of basic computer and 
technical skills. 

 

 Use of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division of numbers including decimals 

and fractions. Use of simple formulas, charts, tables, drawing, specifications, schedules, 
wiring diagrams, use of adjustable measuring instruments, checking of reports, forms, 
records and comparable data where some interpretation is required. Intermediate 
knowledge of basic computer and technical skills. 

 

 Use of mathematics with the use of complex drawings, specifications, charts, tables, and 

various types of precision measuring instruments - where regular interpretation is 
required. Advanced knowledge of basic computer and technical skills. 

            

Details:       

 

000083



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 53 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Effort 
Physical Demand: 
Does this position require that weight be lifted or force be exerted? If so, how much and how 
often? (e.g. once a day, once a week, twice a year, etc.).    
X  Mark the appropriate box below. 

 
 Infrequent lifting of heavy objects that generally does not require assistance. General 

office work with minimal recurring movement including filling of documents, lifting 
standing, bending, stooping, walking, crawling or climbing.  

 

 Potential for recurring lifting of heavy objects that generally requires assistance. General 

office or file and documents maintenance work or work with recurring movement, lifting, 
standing, bending, walking, crawling or climbing. 

 

 Potential for frequent lifting of objects that often requires assistance. General office 

work and medium to heavy file and document maintenance work with movement, lifting 
or high frequency including operation of office and / or heavy equipment, and standing, 
walking, crawling or climbing.  

            

Details:       

 
Mental Demand: 
Please select the level mental effort needed to successfully accomplish the essential duties of 
this position. This will not necessarily reflect your level, but the level needed for the job.  
X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 
  

 Requires little or no decision making for day to day operations of a functional area.  Often 

receives guidance from superiors when performing tasks.  
 

 Requires moderate independent decision making / interpretation within duties or daily 
operations within a functional area.  Requires reading and comprehending simple 
instructions, preparation of simple correspondence and memos, and the ability to 
effectively present information to the supervisor. Occasionally receives guidance from 
superiors when performing tasks. 

 

 Requires moderate to heavy independent decision making within duties or daily 

operations and within in the allocation of resources, time or equipment. Superiors have 
delegated certain authority over general tasks. Requires ability to read and interpret 
documents such as safety rules, operating and maintenance instructions, and procedure 
manuals. Requires ability to write routine reports and correspondence, and the ability 
to speak effectively before groups of employees or residents. Rarely needs to receive 
guidance from superiors when performing tasks. 

            

Details:       

000084



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 54 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Job Conditions 
 
Working Conditions: 
Select one of the following characteristics that most appropriately describe the working 
conditions of the position. Provide additional detail below if necessary. 
 X  Mark the appropriate box below and please list any additional detail. 
 

 
 Works in non-hazardous conditions; limited general contact with other employees and / 

or external customers. 
 

 Works in semi-hazardous or occasionally hazardous conditions; regular contact with 

employees and external customers. Position can require attention to special projects 
that require employee to consult external help from other functional areas. 

 

 Regularly works in hazardous or potentially hazardous conditions with heavy equipment 

that is sensitive to over-handling. Frequently works with external customers on a regular 
basis. 

 

 X  Mark all that apply.  

 

       Noise:   Environmental Conditions:              Other Conditions: (describe)  

 None  Wet or Humid        
 Low  Work near moving parts        
 Moderate  Work in high, precarious places        
 High  Fumes or Airborne Particles        

   Toxic or Caustic chemicals        
   Outdoor weather conditions        

   
Extreme Cold (non-weather)
  

       

   Extreme Heat (non-weather)        
   Risk of Electrical Shock        

   
Work with Explosives  
  

       

   Risk of Radiation         
   Vibration        

 
 Contact with Others: 

Does this position require that a person interact with people within and outside of the organization?  
Please mark the appropriate box. 

 
  X Mark all that apply.  
 

 Residents (Adults, Youth) 

 Developers 

 Vendors 

 Council Members 

 Other elected officials 

 County or State Agencies 

 Others:  

 
 

000085



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 55 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Duties: Please comment on or list your duties as currently assigned.  
      

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Additional Comments: Are there any other circumstances or details about this position which may 
require special qualifications, skills or abilities. Please provide additional information below. 

            

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey. 

 
Please attach a copy of your current job description and return both documents to Klo Abeita 
immediately. The results from this survey will be used to update all job descriptions and will 

be available for viewing in the coming weeks. 

  

000086



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 56 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000087



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 57 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

RESULTS OF COMPENSABLE FACTORS ANALYSIS 
 

Compensable Factors for Comparison & Classification: Management  
 

<insert pending> 
 
 

  

000088



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 58 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Compensable Factors for Comparison & Classification: non-Management  
 

<insert pending> 
 
 

 

 

 
  

000089



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 59 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX B: GENERAL FUND PERSONNEL COSTS VS. COMPARABLE CITIES 
 

<insert tables pending> 

000090



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 60 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000091



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 61 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX C: SALARY SURVEY RESULTS 
 

<insert tables pending> 
  

000092



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 62 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000093



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 63 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX D:  NEW JOB CLASSIFICATIONS AND PROPOSED PAY RANGES 

<insert tables pending> 

000094



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 64 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000095



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 65 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX E: BENEFITS SURVEY RESULTS 

Salary & Pay Increases <insert tables pending> 

 
Paid Vacation <insert tables pending> 

 
Sick Leave <insert tables pending> 

 
Group Insurance - General Employees <insert tables pending> 

 
Group Insurance – Police <insert tables pending> 

 
Group Insurance – Fire <insert tables pending> 

 
Paid Holidays <insert tables pending> 

 
General Employee Retirement <insert tables pending> 

 

  

000096



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 66 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000097



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 67 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX F. PROPOSED INCENTIVE PAY EXAMPLES  

Overview 

Career development is an important factor which should be an integral part of any personnel program and 
budget. Facilitating the career and skills development of staff has the potential to create a better educated 
staff, making them more qualified and capable to meet a higher quality and quantity of work. As part of the 
evaluation feedback and work planning process, the City should consider implementing a system for 
rewarding employees who acquire certain licenses, achieve professional designations, and achieve other 
specified objectives pertaining to professional development. 
 
The following examples are sited for consideration. Communities with more departments (Fire, Police, 
Library, etc) should develop similar goals and values for as appropriate. 

 

(SAMPLE) 
 

                     Option 1     Option 2  

ADMINISTRATIVE      Hourly Rate Increase   % or Step Increase 
 
Clerk or Deputy Clerk 

25 points – Municipal Clerk’s Certification    $0.25         .25% 
50 points – Municipal Clerk’s Certification  $0.50         .25%  
75 points – Municipal Clerk’s Certification  $0.75                           .25% 

 IIMC Certification       $1.25       1.5%  
 Other incentive goals as appropriate. 
 
Finance Director or Accounting Staff 

Certified Public Finance (CPFO) Officer Exams  $0.50       1.5%  
Certified Public Finance Officer (CPFO) Designation  $1.50       1.5%  
Unqualified Audit Opinion  $0.25         .5%  
GFOA Recognized Outstanding Budget  $0.50         .5%  
GFOA Recognized Outstanding Financial Statements  $0.50         .5%  
Training towards Risk Manager Certification  $0.25         .5%  
Risk Manager Certification  $0.25         1.5% 
Other incentive goals as appropriate. 

 
Administrative Assistants / Secretaries / Office Support 

MOUS Certification – Access  $0.25         .5%  
MOUS Certification - Excel  $0.25         .5%  
MOUS Certification – Word  $0.25         .5% 
MOUS Certification – Power Point  $0.25         .5%  
Other incentive goals as appropriate. 

 
City Administrator / Department Heads 

Accomplishment of Annual Council Goals  $ undetermined 
Expenditures <95% of Budgeted Expenditures  $ undetermined 
Tax Revenues > 20% Above Budgeted Revenue  $ undetermined 
Annual Council Goals Achievement – Bonus  $ undetermined 
Other incentive goals as appropriate. 

 

000098



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 68 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

                      Option 1     Option 2  

GENERAL / WATER / SEWER / STREETS / PARK Hourly Rate Increase   % or Step Increase 
 
General  

Commercial Drivers License (CDL)     $0.50         .5% 
Commercial Pesticide Applicator  $0.50         .25% 

Water  
D Water Treatment License  $0.25         .5% 
C Water Treatment License  $0.75         .5% 
B Water Treatment License  $1.25         .5% 
A Water Treatment License  $2.00         .5% 
Class I Water Distribution Certificate  $0.25         .5% 
Class II Water Distribution Certificate  $0.50         .5% 
Class III Water Distribution Certificate  $0.75         .5% 

 Back Flow Testor Certificate  $0.50         .5% 
 
Waste Water  

D Waste Water Treatment License  $0.25         .5% 
C Waste Water Treatment License  $0.75         .5% 
B Waste Water Treatment License  $1.25         .5% 
A Waster Water Treatment License  $2.00         .5% 
  

OTHER 
40 hours Continuing Education  $0.25         .25% 
New Service Implementation  $0.10         .75% 
Grant Revenue ($5,000 to $12,000) – Bonus  2% of Revenue            .75% 
Grant Revenue (>$12,500) – Bonus  $250 or % of Revenue .50% 
Recreation Program Enrollment – 10% Increase Bonus  $ undetermined            .75% 
Building Inspection Inquiry Response Time – 24-hours (monthly avg) $ undetermined            .50% 
Plan Review – 15 day Average Response Time per planset  $ undetermined            .50% 
 
 

 

  

000099



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 69 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 APPENDIX G: PROPOSED 360° PERFORMANCE EVALUATION  

The 360° Evaluation 

360 degree feedback is a method and a tool that provides each employee the opportunity to receive 
performance feedback from his or her supervisor and four to eight peers, reporting staff members, or co-workers. 
Most 360 degree feedback tools are also responded to by each individual in a self assessment. 360 degree 
feedback allows each individual to understand how his or her effectiveness as an employee, co-worker, or staff 
member is viewed by others. The most effective processes provide feedback that is based on behaviors and 
performance that other employees can see. The feedback provides insight about the skills, attributes and 
behaviors desired in the organization to accomplish the mission, vision, and goals and live the values that are 
important to most any organization. The feedback is firmly planted in behaviors needed to exceed customer and 
organizational expectations. With that said, this tool has many positive aspects and many proponents which are 
outlined below.  

The 1999 State of the Industry Report, from the American Society for Training and Development (ASTD), 
reviewed the training practices of more than 750 firms. Fifty-five firms, described by ASTD as leading edge in 
their training approaches, rely heavily on employee feedback, including 360 degree feedback and peer review, 
for individual development plans and annual performance reviews. Seventy-five percent of these companies 
provided individual development plans, and 33 percent provided 360 degree feedback for most of their 
employees in 1998, compared to 50 percent and 10 percent in 1997, according to ASTD. 

Using the Evaluation 

There are four essentials to benefiting from the 360°evaluation method: 

• Selecting the Evaluators: People who are chosen as Evaluators, usually choices shared by the 
organization and employee, generally interact routinely with the person receiving feedback. 

• The Evaluation Process: One of the key purposes of the 360° Evaluation is the opportunity to address 

the misperceptions employees and supervisors have regarding the importance a position’s skills and 
attributes requires. The overall purpose of the feedback evaluation tool is to assist each individual to 
understand his or her strengths and weaknesses, to contribute insights into aspects of his or her work 
needing professional development, and to facilitate a productive dialogue between employee and 
supervisor. Each evaluation contains a series of 15 questions, and the evaluator is asked to respond to 
what he or she feels is the Relevant Importance of a certain skill or attribute to the position, then respond 
to what they feel is the Performance Level Tables 1 & 2 illustrates how this is done. 

    Table 1: Weighted Factors & Performance Rating 

 

000100



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 70 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Table 2: Evaluating the Position and the Employee 

 

 

• Using / reviewing the feedback report: Employee and manager have the opportunity to discuss 
perceived and actual performance, identify areas of excellence and areas of improvement, and 
develop a work plan by establishing specific performance expectations and goals that are to be 
achieved within a defined timeframe. 

Table 3: Evaluation Report: Individual & Supervisor   

 

• Managing / integrating the report into performance management: Generally, each organization 
already has a defined pay and incentive program. Rather than completely modify this system, the 
360* evaluation tool can be integrated into the existing salary and compensation plan with little or no 
changes whatsoever. It is generally recommended that organizations without a pay-for-performance 
standard adopt a pay incentive or reward system to increase effectiveness of this tool. See Incentive 
Pay Goals and Values in the next section. 

The following sections will describe the pros and cons of the 360 degree feedback evaluation tool.   

 

 

000101



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 71 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

Positive Attributes of the 360° Evaluation Tool 

Organizations that are happy with the 360 degree component of their performance management systems 
identify these positive features of the process. These features will manifest themselves in well-managed, well-
integrated 360 degree processes. 

• Improved Feedback From More Sources: Provides well-rounded feedback from peers, reporting 
staff, co-workers, and supervisors. This can be a definite improvement over feedback from a single 
individual. 360 feedback can also save managers’ time in that they can spend less energy providing 
feedback as more people participate in the process. Co-worker perception is important and the 
process helps people understand how other employees view their work. 

• Team Development: Helps team members learn to work more effectively together. (Teams know 
more about how team members are performing than their supervisor.) Multirater feedback makes 
team members more accountable to each other as they share the knowledge that they will provide 
input on each members’ performance. A well-planned process can improve communication and team 
development. 

Table 4: Evaluation Report: Team Development 

 

• Personal and Organizational Performance Development: 360 degree feedback is one of the best 
methods for understanding personal and organizational developmental needs. 

• Responsibility for Career Development: For many reasons, organizations are no longer 
responsible for developing the careers of their employees, if they ever were. Multirater feedback can 
provide excellent information to an individual about what she needs to do to enhance her career. 
Additionally, many employees feel 360 degree feedback is more accurate, more reflective of their 
performance, and more validating than prior feedback from the supervisor alone. This makes the 
information more useful for both career and personal development. See Incentive Pay Goals and 
Values in the next section. 

• Reduced Discrimination Risk: When feedback comes from a number of individuals in various job 
functions, discrimination because of race, age, gender, and so on, is reduced. The “horns and halo” 

000102



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 72 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

effect, in which a supervisor rates performance based on her most recent interactions with the 
employee, is also minimized. 

• Improved Customer Service: Especially in feedback processes that involve the internal or external 
customer, each person receives valuable feedback about the quality of his product or services. This 
feedback should enable the individual to improve the quality, reliability, promptness, and 
comprehensiveness of these products and services. 

• Training Needs Assessment: Multirater feedback provides comprehensive information about 
organization training needs and thus allows planning for classes, cross-functional responsibilities, and 
cross-training. 

Drawbacks of the 360° Evaluation Tool 

For every good point about 360 degree feedback systems, detractors and people who have had bad 
experiences with such systems, can offer the down side. Understanding the down side is important because it 
gives you a roadmap of the things to avoid when you implement a 360 degree evaluation process. Helping an 
organization determine if such a tool will be effective in improving the overall performance or an organization 
and its personnel is important when considering any performance measurement tool.  

Following are potential problems with 360 degree feedback processes and a recommended solution for each. 

• Exceptional Expectations for the Process: 360 degree feedback is not the same as a performance 
management system. It is merely a part of the feedback and development that such a system offers 
within an organization. Additionally, proponents may lead participants to expect too much from this 
feedback system in their efforts to obtain organizational support for implementation. Make sure the 
360 feedback is integrated into a complete performance management system. 

• Design Process Downfalls: Often, a 360 process arrives as a recommendation from the HR 
department or is shepherded in by an executive who learned about the process at a seminar or in a 
book. Just as an organization implements any planned change, the implementation of 360 feedback 
should follow effective change management guidelines. A cross-section of the people who will have to 
live with and utilize the process should explore and develop the process for your organization. 

• Failure to Connect the Process: For a 360 feedback process to work, it must be connected with the 
overall strategic aims of your organization. If you have identified competencies or have 
comprehensive job descriptions, give people feedback on their performance of the expected 
competencies and job duties. The system will fail if it is an add-on rather than a supporter of your 
organization’s fundamental direction and requirements. It must function as a measure of your 
accomplishment of your organization’s big and long term picture. 

• Insufficient Training and Process Understanding: Employees who will participate in a 360 process 
need training about the process, how to provide constructive feedback, how to interpret results, and 
more. Failure to provide the appropriate amount of training and information can sink a process 
quickly. 

• Insufficient Information: Since 360 degree feedback processes are currently usually anonymous, 
people receiving feedback have no recourse if they want to further understand the feedback. They 

000103



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 73 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

have no one to ask for clarification of unclear comments or more information about particular ratings 
and their basis. For this reason and for the points listed in the several bullet points following this one, 
developing 360 process coaches is important. Supervisors, HR staff people, interested managers and 
others are taught to assist people to understand their feedback. They are trained to help people 
develop action plans based upon the feedback. 

• Focus on Negatives and Weaknesses: At least one recent book, First Break All the Rules: What 
Great Managers Do Differently, advises that great managers focus on employee strengths, not 
weaknesses. The authors said, "People don't change that much, Don't waste time trying to put in what 
was left out. Try to draw out what was left in. That is hard enough." 

• Rater Inexperience and Ineffectiveness: In addition to the insufficient training organizations provide 
both people receiving feedback and people providing feedback, there are numerous ways raters go 
wrong. They may inflate ratings to make an employee look good. They may deflate ratings to make an 
individual look bad. They may informally band together to make the system artificially inflate 
everyone’s performance. Checks and balances must prevent these pitfalls. 

• Paperwork / Computer Data Entry Overload: Need I say much more here? Traditional evaluations 
required two people and one form. Multirater feedback ups the sheer number of people participating 
in the process and the consequent organization time invested.  

Conclusion 

As with any performance feedback process, it can provide you with a profoundly supportive, organization 
affirming method for promoting employee growth and development. In rare cases, the results of this type of 
evaluation process saps morale, destroys motivation, enables disenfranchised employees to go for the jugular 
or plot and scheme revenge scenarios. Most often, however, it can increase positive, powerful problem 
solving for customers or set people off on journeys to identify the guilty, the feedback provider who rated their 
performance less than perfect.  

Which scenario will your organization choose? It’s all in the details. Think profoundly before you move 
forward; learn from the mistakes of others; assess your organization’s readiness. Apply effective change 
management strategies to planning and implementation. Do the right things right and you will add a powerful 
tool to your performance management and enhancement toolkit! 

000104



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 74 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 
 

 
 

000105



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 75 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 
 

  

000106



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 76 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000107



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 77 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

  

000108



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 78 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 

 

 

000109



City of North Pole, Alaska                                                             Classification & Compensation Study  

 

Municipal Solutions® llc 79 | P a g e  

Efficiency.  Technology.  Safety. 

 

000110



Sponsored by: Mayor Pro-Tem McGhee 
Introduced & Approved: December 14, 2020 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 
RESOLUTION 20-10 2 

 3 
 4 

A RESOLUTION OF THE NORTH POLE CITY COUNCIL TO SELECT LOVE INC. TO 5 
ADMINISTER THE BUSINESS AND NON-PROFIT INTERUPTION GRANT (BIG) AND 6 

ESTABLISH GRANT AMOUNTS AND TO INCREASE THE FAMILY AND INDIVIDUAL 7 
INTERUPTION GRANT MAXIMUM.  8 

 9 
 10 
WHEREAS, Love Inc. has been administering the Family and Individual Interruption Grant 11 
(FIG) for the City of North Pole and getting the desired results in distributing funds the City 12 
desires to also have Love Inc. administer the Business and Non-Profit Interruption Grant (BIG) 13 
from December 1, 2020 till December 30, 2020.  14 
 15 
WHEREAS, Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was created to 16 
provide support for communities impacted by the Covid -19 Pandemic; and, 17 
 18 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole wants to disburse CARES Act funds to the community 19 
where needs exist; and, 20 
 21 
WHEREAS, the Business and Non-Profit Interruption Grant amounts will be minimum $3,000 22 
to the maximum $84,000; and 23 
 24 
WHEREAS, the Family and Individual Grant eligible expenses period end date will be moved 25 
from September 30, 2020 to November 30, 2020 and maximum grant amount will be increased 26 
from $10,000 to $15,000 maximum allowable grant; and  27 
 28 
WHEREAS, The City of North Pole desires to distribute the all remaining CARES Act 29 
funds to its Citizen’s via a stimulus check. Once all encumbered funds are determined the 30 
balance of the CARES Act funds will be distributed to each citizen of North Pole equally. 31 
 32 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the North Pole City Council approves of these 33 
changes and wishes to help all individuals, families, business and non-profits to endure the 34 
financial impacts of this Covid – 19 Pandemic. 35 
 36 
PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 37 
14th day of December, 2020. 38 

 39 
       ________________________________ 40 

Michael W. Welch, Mayor 41 
 42 
ATTEST: 43 
 44 
_________________________________ 45 
Aaron M. Rhoades, City Clerk 46 

 47 
PASSED 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 

000111



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 14, 2020 

 

 

To: Honorable Mayor Welch 

 North Pole Council Members 

 

Re: Council approval to accept 2019 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Funds 

 in the amount of $96,848.00. 

 

 

I would like the council to approve the 2018 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 

Funds in the amount of $96,848.00 for the 2020-2021 grant cycle and authorize the Mayor to 

sign this grant.  This amount covers the period between October 1, 2029 and September 30, 

2021. 

 

These funds will cover most of the costs associated with the Detective assigned to the Statewide 

Drug Enforcement Unit for this period.  Our drug enforcement efforts in this unit are vital to the 

ongoing effort to combat illicit drug and alcohol importation into our communities. 

 

We have been thankful for the council and the state of Alaska’s support as we continue our 

efforts.  We have been in this unit since 2008 and we have seen tremendous results over this 12 

year period. 

 

Thank you for your time. 

 

 
Chief Steve Dutra 

North Pole Police Department 
Chief Steve Dutra 

125 Snowman Ln. 

North Pole, AK 99705 

907-488-6902 

Northpolepolice.org 

 

 

000112



 

 

Department of Public Safety 
 

DIVISION OF ALASKA STATE TROOPERS 
Office of the Director 

 
5700 East Tudor Road 

Anchorage, Alaska 99507-1225 
Main: 907.269.5641 
 Fax: 907.269.5079 

 
 
 
December 7, 2020 
 
 
Michael Welch, Mayor 
City of North Pole 
125 Snowman Lane 
North Pole, AK  99705 
 
Dear Mayor Welch, 
 
The Alaska Department of Public Safety has approved your grant application for funding under the FFY19 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program in the amount of $96,848 to the City of 
North Pole. 
 
The grant award packet will be provided to you for signature following this notification. This award is 
subject to all administrative and financial requirements as outlined in the grant agreement and under the 
JAG Program. Should you not adhere to these requirements, you will be in violation of the terms of the 
agreement and the award will be subject to termination for cause or other administration action as 
appropriate. 
If your agency chooses not to accept the approved award amount, or if you have any questions regarding 
this notification, please contact Natalya Fomina, Grants Manager, at 907-269-5082 or by email at 
natalya.fomina@alaska.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Colonel Bryan Barlow 
Director, Alaska State Troopers 
 
 
 
Cc: Steve Dutra, Chief of Police Department 
Cc: Captain Andrew Gorn, AST 

000113

mailto:natalya.fomina@alaska.gov


000114



000115



000116



000117



000118



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 1 of 8 

GRANT AGREEMENT  
 
ARTICLE I - GOVERNING LAW 
 

Statutory Authority: The Edward Byrne Memoria Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program 
statue is Subpart I of Part E of Title I of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act 
of 1968. Title I of Public Law No. 90-351 (34 U.S.C.10101-10726), including subpart 1 of 
part E (34 U.S.C. 10151-10158 and 28 U.S.C. 530C(a). 

 
ARTICLE II - SCOPE OF WORK 
 

A. The Grantee agrees that it will implement in all respects the Project Description 
submitted with the application and is considered a part of this Grant Agreement. 

 
B. The Grantee agrees to make no change in the project described in the attachment and 

final approved application without first submitting a written request to the Department 
and obtaining the Department's written approval of the requested change. 

 
C. The Grantee shall provide all the necessary qualified personnel, material, and facilities 

to implement the program described herein. 
 
ARTICLE III – PROJECT PERIOD 
 

A.  The term of this Grant Agreement shall be for the period of time described on the Grant 
Award page of this agreement and SHALL NOT BECOME EFFECTIVE UNTIL THE 
AGREEMENT IS FULLY SIGNED BY AN AUTHORIZED SIGNER AND RECEIVED 
BY THE DEPARTMENT. 

 
B.  In the event that, due to unusual circumstances, it becomes apparent that this Grant 

Agreement cannot be brought to full completion within the time period set forth in the 
Grant Award, the Grantee shall so notify the Department in writing at least thirty (30) 
days prior to the termination date of this Grant Agreement.  Such notice shall contain a 
description of the unusual circumstances causing the project to be incomplete. 

 
ARTICLE IV - REPORTS 
 

A. Reports 
 

In order that the Department may adequately determine the progress of the Grant 
Project, the Grantee shall make Progress Reports to the Department per the schedule 
herein.  The said Reports shall be on the form provided by the Department and contain 
the following: 
 
1. Program Report: A description of the work accomplished to date, the methods 

and procedures used, and the impact of the project.  Semi-annual progress reports 
shall be submitted to the Department no later than fifteen days following the end of 
each report period. 

 
2. Reimbursement Requests:  The Grantee shall submit a request for 

reimbursement to the Department at a minimum quarterly. The Grantee will 
provide the Department approved documentation supporting the expenses with the 
request for reimbursement. This may be from the Grantee’s accounting system.  

000119



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 2 of 8 

 
3. Other information specified by the Department or as may be of assistance to the 

Department in its evaluation, such as Project Equipment Reports. 
 
 

B. Other Reports 
 

1.  The Grantee shall report any changes to key personnel to the Department within 30 
days of the change. 

 
ARTICLE V - FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION 
 

A. The Grantee must establish and maintain separate accounting for the use of grant 
funds. The use of funds in any manner contrary to allowable grant activities shall result 
in the subsequent termination of the grant and any balance of funds.  It shall also 
result in the Grantee being required to return to the State any funds determined not 
allowed.  

 
B. The Grantee shall submit a request for reimbursement no later than 15 calendar days 

after the end of a calendar month.  A Final Request for Reimbursement must be 
submitted no later than 30 calendar days following the end of the grant period. 
 
Reimbursement Requests must be: 
 
1. For expenses incurred within the period covered by the grant agreement;  
 
2. For expenses incurred and paid by the Grantee within the request period specified 

on the Grant Award; 
 
3. Submitted in a format provided or approved by the Department, and must be 

provided by a responsible signatory of the Grantee; 
 
4. Based upon the Grantee’s accounting system, a financial report generated from 

the accounting system must be attached to the request for reimbursement. 
 
5. Supported by appropriate source documentation including, but not limited to: 

vendor billings, time sheets, travel authorizations, cancelled checks, tickets, payroll 
records, or other applicable information necessary to substantiate expenditures. 
Department staff may request copies of source documentation prior to or after 
payment for any Reimbursement Requests. 

 
6. The Grantee must use direct charging on timesheets for all time spent on grant 

related activity or must use a methodology for the allocation of personal services 
costs approved by the Department.  The Grantee must use a cost allocation 
methodology approved by the Department for any other shared costs charged to 
the grant and must provide the Department with appropriate documentation 
supporting the methodology used.   The Grantee shall contact the Department for 
additional guidance or technical assistance. 

 
7. No advance payments are authorized under this Agreement, unless approved by 

the Department. 
 

000120



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 3 of 8 

ARTICLE VI - BUDGET 
 

A.  The Department is not liable for Grantee incurred costs or services that exceed the 
grant agreement budget.  The Department will not honor requests for excessive 
payments.  It is the responsibility of the Grantee to secure a properly executed grant 
budget revision to this grant agreement when the circumstances require changes to 
the budget. The Grantee will in no case exceed in expenditure or in commitment the 
total dollar amount agreed upon in the grant agreement.  The Grantee is responsible 
for any and all over-expenditures and for any disallowed costs that it may incur.  

 
B.  Any change to the terms and conditions of this grant agreement must be made through 

a written amendment. Amendments do not take effect until signed by the Department. 
 

ARTICLE VII - FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
 

A.  The Grantee and any sub-recipient shall adhere to generally accepted accounting 
principles. The Grantee’s financial management system shall: Provide Accurate, 
current, and complete accounting of financial activities under this grant; 

 
B.  Adequately identify the source and application of funds for cost reimbursable 

activities;   
 
C.  Provide effective control over and accountability for all grant funds and real and 

personal property acquired with grant funds;   
 
D.  Maintain separate financial records for the accounting of funds related to this grant 

agreement; 
 
E.  Maintain systematic methods to for  timely and appropriate resolution of audit findings 

or recommendations; 
 
F. Retain source documentation that adequately identifies the nature and use of grant 

funds;  Allow for comparison of actual and budgeted amounts; and, 
 
G. The Grantee shall comply with all Federal, State, and local laws regarding the 

collection, deposit, payment and reporting of taxes, including obtaining an employer 
identification number and providing W-2 forms to employees. 

 
ARTICLE VIII - AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. An Audit of the Grantee operations may be required by the President’s Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and 
Non-Profit Organizations, or the State of Alaska Single Audit Regulations at 2 AAC 
45.010 –  45.090. 

 
B. A Single Audit is required when an organization is in receipt of State financial 

assistance that expends a cumulative total equal to or greater than $500,000 during 
the entity’s fiscal year under the State of Alaska Single Audit Regulations at 2 AAC 
45.010  – 45.090. 
 

ARTICLE IX - TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION 
 

000121



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 4 of 8 

A. The Department, by written notice to the Grantee, shall have the right to terminate this 
Grant Agreement if, at any time, in the judgment of the Department the provisions of 
this Agreement have been violated or the activities described in the Project Description 
have not progressed satisfactorily.  In this regard, the Department may demand refund 
of all or part of the funds disbursed to the Grantee. 

 
B. The Parties may modify any and all terms and conditions of the Grant Agreement by 

mutual agreement between the Grantee and the Department.  
 
ARTICLE X - CONDITIONS OF AWARD AND ACCEPTANCE 
 

A. Acceptance within 45 days.  Within 45 days from the issuance date of these 
documents to the Grantee, if the Grantee does not confirm acceptance that it will 
utilize the grant by signing and returning the award agreement to the Department, 
obligation to set aside these federal funds for use by the Grantee shall be terminated 
without further cause. 

 
B. Commencement within 60 days.  If a project is not operational within 60 days of the 

original starting date of the grant period, the Grantee must report, by letter, to the 
Department the steps taken to initiate the project, the reasons for delay, and the 
expected starting date. 

 
C. Operational within 90 days.  If a project is not operational within 90 days of the original 

starting date of the grant period, the Grantee must submit a second statement to the 
Department explaining the implementation delay.  Upon receipt of the 90-day letter, 
the Department may cancel the project and request Grantor Agency approval to 
distribute the funds to other project areas. 

 
ARTICLE XI - CERTIFICATION 
 

The Grantee hereby assures and certifies that it will comply with State and Federal 
regulations, policies, guidelines, and requirements with respect to the acceptance and use 
of funds for this program.  Also, the Grantee hereby assures and certifies with respect to 
this Grant that: 

 
A. The Grantee agrees to comply with the financial and administrative requirements set 

forth in the current edition of the Department of Justice Programs (OJP) Financial 
Guide, available online at http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/FinGuide/. 

 
B. Funds made available under this Grant will not be used to supplant state or local funds 

but will be used to increase the amounts of such funds that would, in the absence of 
federal funds, be made available for the same purpose. 

 
C. The Grantee will submit all project-related contracts, subcontracts, agreements, and 

subsequent amendments to the Department for review and approval prior to 
execution. 

 
D. No member, officer, or employee of the Grantee, or its designees or agents, no 

member of the governing body of the locality in which the program is situated, and no 
other public official of such locality or localities who exercises any functions or 
responsibilities with respect to the program during his or her tenure or for one year 
thereafter, will have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or 
the process thereof, for work to be performed in connection with the program assisted 

000122

http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/FinGuide/


 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 5 of 8 

under the grant, and the Grantee shall incorporate, in all such contracts or 
subcontracts, a provision prohibiting such interest pursuant to the purposes of this 
certification. 

 
E. The Grantee certifies that the programs contained in its application and Project 

Description meet all the requirements of the 1988 Anti-Drug Abuse Act, that all 
information is correct, that the applicant will comply with all provisions of the Act and all 
other applicable Federal and State laws, regulations, and guidelines. 

 
F. The Grantee will complete and keep on file, as appropriate, the Immigration and 

Naturalization Service Employment Eligibility Form (1-9).   
 

G. The Grantee will, if required, formulate an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan 
(EEOP) in accordance with 28 CFR 42.301, et. seq., and submit their EEOP or EEOP 
Short Form directly to the Office for Civil Rights within 60 days of the date of this 
agreement.  If the Grantee is claiming a full or partial exemption from the EEOP 
requirement, the Grantee must submit an EEOP Certification Form to the Office for 
Civil Rights.  
  

H. The Grantee agrees to the following: to forward to the Alaska Department of Public 
Safety for submission to the Department for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs, 
U.S. Department of Justice any finding of discrimination against the Grantee by a 
federal or state court or federal or state administrative agency on the grounds of race, 
color, religion, national origin, or sex and to provide meaningful access to their 
programs and activities to individuals who are Limited English Proficient.  

 
I. The Grantee assures that it will comply (and will require any subgrantees or 

contractors to comply) with any applicable statutorily-imposed nondiscrimination 
requirements, which may include the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 
1968 (42 U.S.C. § 3789d(c)(1)); the Victims of Crime Act (42 U.S.C. § 10604(e)); the 
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. § 5672(b)); the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 
§ 794); the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12132); the Education 
Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681); the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 
U.S.C. § 6102); and   the Department of Justice regulations on the Equal Treatment 
for Faith-Based Organizations (28 CFR part 38).   

 
J. The Grantee assures that in accordance with federal civil rights laws, the Grantee shall 

not retaliate against individuals for taking action or participating in action to secure 
rights protected by the laws referenced in Article XI – O. above. 
 

 
ARTICLE XII - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
A.  Management 

 
The Grantee's procedures for managing equipment (including replacement), whether 
acquired in whole or in part with funds made available through this Grant, will, at a 
minimum, meet the following requirements: 

 
1. Property records must be maintained which include: 

 
i. Description of the property; 

000123



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 6 of 8 

ii. Serial number or other identification number; 
iii. Source of the property; 
iv. Identification of title holder; 
v. Acquisition date; 
vi. Cost of property; 
vii. Percentage of Federal participation in the cost of the property; 
viii. Location of the property; 
ix. Use and condition of the property; and 
x. Disposition data, including the date of disposal and sale price. 

 
2. A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the results reconciled with 

the property records at least once every two years. 
 

3. A control system must exist to ensure adequate safeguards to prevent loss, 
damage, or theft of the property.  Any loss, damage, or theft shall be investigated 
by the Grantee and the Department, as appropriate. 

     
4. Adequate maintenance procedures must exist to keep the property in good 

condition. 
 

5. If authorized or required by the Department to sell the property, proper sales 
procedures must be established to ensure the highest possible return. 

 
B. Disposition 

 
The Grantee shall dispose of equipment when original or replacement acquired with 
grant funds is no longer needed for the original project or program, or for other 
activities currently or previously supported by a Federal agency.  Disposition of 
equipment will be made as follows: 
 
1. Items with a current per unit fair market value of less than $5,000 may be retained, 

sold, or otherwise disposed of with no further obligation to the Department. 
  

2. Items with a current per unit fair market value in excess of $5,000 may be retained 
or sold, and the Department shall have a right to an amount calculated by 
multiplying the current market value or proceeds from sale by the Department's 
share of the equipment. Seller is also eligible for sale costs. 

 
3. In cases where the Grantee fails to take appropriate disposition actions, the 

Department may direct the Grantee to take other disposition actions.  
 
ARTICLE XIII - PROJECT RECORD MAINTENANCE, RETENTION, AND ACCESS  
 

A. The Grantee shall maintain Grant records that disclose the amount and disposition of 
the total funds from all sources budgeted for the Grant Agreement period, the purpose 
of undertaking for which such funds were used, the amount and nature of all 
contributions from other sources, and such other records as the Department shall 
prescribe.  Such records shall be preserved for a period of not less than three (3) 
years following completion of the project. 
 

B. The following shall have access to any books, documents, ledgers, papers and records 
of the Grantee determined to be pertinent to the purpose of making audit, examination, 
excerpts, and transcripts: 

000124



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 7 of 8 

 
1. The U. S. Department of Justice; 
 
2. The Comptroller General of the United States; 
 
3. The Department, its agents, or assigns or successors in function; and  
 
4. Duly authorized representatives of any of the above. 

 
ARTICLE XIV - MONITORING AND EVALUATION 
 

Monitoring shall be accomplished by the Department at times deemed reasonable and 
proper by the Department.  The Department shall make every effort not to disturb or 
disrupt any program or activity beyond that necessary to secure relevant data and make a 
reasonable assessment of the Grantee's performance. 
 
A. Monitoring by the Department may be performed on a continuing basis throughout the 

grant period and may involve telephone contact, written communication, analysis of 
submitted reports, and on-site visits. 

 
B. It shall be the purpose of monitoring by the Department to reinforce, improve, and 

augment the Grantee's capacity to administer this grant by identifying potential 
problem areas and recommending corrective action to prevent deficiencies. 

 
C. The Department shall provide a Monitoring Report in writing to the Grantee which 

outlines review findings, specifies recommendations which reflect corrective action 
required, if any, and a due date for the corrective action to be in place.  

 
D. When the Department has confirmed that the appropriate corrective action has been 

taken, a letter shall be sent to the Grantee stating that the finding(s) has been closed. 
 
ARTICLE XV - PUBLICATION OF PROJECT ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS 
 

When publicizing project activities and results, the Grantee shall include the following 
statements: 
 
A. “The opinions, findings and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this 

publication/program/exhibition are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily 
reflect the views of the Department of Public Safety or the Department of Justice.” 

 
B. “This project was supported by a grant awarded by the Alaska Department of Public 

Safety, through funding from the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice 
Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics” 

 
ARTICLE XVI - WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS OF PROGRAMS 
 

When issuing statements, press releases, requests for proposals, bid solicitations, and 
other documents describing projects or programs funded in whole or part with Federal 
funds, the Grantee shall clearly state the following: 

 
A. The percentage of the total cost of the program or project which is or will be financed 

with Federal money; and 
 

000125



 

FFY19 JAG Grant Agreement   Form Updated 12/2020@ 
City of North Pole 
Grant# 21-19JAG-02  Page 8 of 8 

B. The dollar amount of Federal funds for the project or program. 
 

However, if disclosing this information would in any way imperil the project, the Grantee is 
exempt from this requirement. 

 
ARTICLE XVII - SPECIAL TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND WAIVERS 
 

A.  Any funds not properly obligated by the end of the Grant Award will lapse and revert to 
the Department.  The obligation deadline is the last day of the Grant Award period as 
specified in Section II of the Grant Award page of this agreement. 

 
B.  If the Grantee is a Native Village, Native tribe or another Native tribal entity, the 

Grantee hereby irrevocably waives any sovereign immunity that it may possess, and 
consents to suit against itself and its officers, employees and agents, in the courts of 
the State of Alaska or any other state or federal court of competent jurisdiction, as to 
all claims or causes of action by the State of Alaska, or the United States or any other 
person arising out of or in connection with this grant award.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

000126



000127



000128



000129



000130



000131



000132



000133



000134



000135



000136



000137



000138



000139



000140



000141



PERSONNEL BUDGET DETAIL

POSITION TITLE/NAME QTY % TIME TOTAL

Detective Werner -(Regular Wages) 12 75% 58,652$             

Detective Werner -(Overtime  Wages) 12 75% 2,115$               

-$                       

-$                       

-$                       

-$                       

SUBTOTAL 60,767.00$        

POSITION TITLE/NAME QTY % TIME TOTAL

Detective Werner (PERS Contribution) 12 75% 13,374$             

Detective Werner (Medicare) 12 75% 3,780$               

Detective Werner (Health Care) 12 75% 15,597$             

Detective Werner (Worker Comp) 12 75% 3,330$               

-$                       

-$                       

SUBTOTAL 36,081$             

TOTAL 96,848.00$      

1,733.00$    

370.00$       

 AMOUNT

1,486.00$    

420.00$       

PERSONNEL - List each position by title and name of employee if available. Show the monthly salary amount, 
number of months, and percentage of time to be devoted to the project. Compensataion paid for employees 
engaged in grant activities must be consistent with that paid for similar work within the applicant organization.

FRINGE BENEFITS - Fringe benefits should be based on actual known costs or an established formula.  Fringe 
benefits are for the personnel listed above and only for the percentage of time devoted to the project.  Fringe 
benefits on overtime hours are limited to FICA, Workman's Compensation, and Unemployment Compensation.

235$            

MONTHLY 
AMOUNT

6,517$         

City of North Pole
Grant# 21-19JAG-02

Budget Detail
10/01/20 to 06/30/2021 Page 1 of 2000142



BUDGET SUMMARY

AMOUNT

60,767.00$           

36,081.00$           

-$                     

-$                     

-$                     

TOTAL 96,848.00$      

BUDGET CATEGORY

Personnel

Fringe

City of North Pole
Grant# 20-18JAG-01

Budget Detail
10/01/19 to 09/30/20 Page 2 of 2

000143


	AG 1-4-2021
	North Pole Council Chambers
	6. Communications from the Mayor
	a. Alaska Syngas Project Brent Sheets – North Pole Brent Sheets
	b. Marathon, GVEA
	10. Citizens Comments (Limited to five (5) minutes per Citizen)
	14. Council Comments


	Min 12-14-2020
	 Student of the Month
	a. Zada Lipari - Senior
	b. Shea Gibby – Sophomore
	c. Wilson Wade – Sophomore
	d. Madison Miller - Freshman

	CHP  plant for City
	Draft Final Report  Edition III- North Pole Comp Study 30 Dec 2020 rev3
	Resolution 20-10
	Council Approval
	Award Notification Letter -  North Pole PD
	FFY19 JAG North Pole DOJ Certifications
	FFY19 JAG North Pole DOJ Standard Assurances
	FFY19 JAG North Pole Grant Agreement
	ARTICLE VI - BUDGET
	ARTICLE VIII - AUDIT REQUIREMENTS

	FFY19 JAG North Pole Program Narrative
	FFY19 JAG North Pole Budget Detail
	Personnel
	Budget Summary




